The Challenge of Addiction

Foundations for a Future Oriented Policy on Addiction in Switzerland

The Challenge of Addiction

Foundations for a Future Oriented Policy on Addiction in Switzerland



The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* is intended as a contribution towards an integrated understanding of addiction policy on the basis of a public health approach. From a health policy perspective, the Report proposes broadening the scope of addiction policy in Switzerland and changing its strategic focus and direction. It recommends ten principles. These are intended to contribute to a coherent policy response to the problematic consumption of all psychoactive substances and to behaviours with addictive potential.

Project Manager



Ilona Kickbusch Prof. Dr. kickbusch health consult

Steering Group



François van der Linde Dr. med. Chairman of the Steering Group President of the FCDI



Theodor Abelin Prof. Dr. med. Specialist in social and preventive medicine FCTC expert



Bruno Erni President of Fachverband Sucht/ Head of Berner Gesundheit Member of the FCAI



Rosmarie Zapfl Former member of the National Council President of the FCAI



Bruno Meili lic. phil. Programme Manager, Swiss Cancer League/oncosuisse President of the FCTC



Léonie Chinet M. A. Project Manager for Addiction Problems, Office of Health, Canton of Vaud Member of the FCTC



Michel Graf MPH Director of Sucht Info Schweiz (previously SFA) Member of the FCAI



Françoise Dubois-Arber Dr. med. MER PD. Head of the Evaluation Section, University Institute for Social and Preventive Medicine, Lausanne Member of the FCDI



Ruth Vogt lic. phil. Member of the School Board, Höhere Fachschule für Sozialpädagogik agogis Member of the FCDI

Representatives of the Federal Office of Public Health



Markus Jann lic. phil. Head of Drugs Section Public Health Directorate



Astrid Wüthrich lic. phil. Secretariat of the FCDI



Claudia Künzli MAS in Health Promotion and Prevention Secretariat of the FCTC



Gabriela Scherer lic. phil. Secretariat of the FCAI

Project Office



Miriam Wetter lic. rer. soc. Executive Manager mcw assistenz]&[koordination



Eliane Fischer lic. rer. soc. mcw assistenz]&[koordination



Stefanie Knocks M. A. mcw assistenz]&[koordination



Table of Contents

Foreword	6 8
Summary	10
Introduction	
The problem of defining addiction	
The choice of a public health approach	15
	16
Areas of tension involving Individual – Society – State – Market	
Contradictions and conflicts of interest in addiction policy	22
Public Health as the Basis	
What constitutes a public health approach?	25
The social context	30
Outlook	34
Starting Position in Switzerland	
An addiction policy split up according to substances	37
Towards a coherent addiction policy	42
Scope of the Policy Framework	
More than dependence	45
More than legal status	52
More than substances	58
Strategic Direction	
More than personal responsibility	63
More than youth protection	70
More than health policy measures	77
Outlook	81
The Challenge of Addiction	
Policy Framework	85
Outlook	88
Acknowledgements	89
Endnotes and references	90

Foreword

Current addiction policy in most European countries including Switzerland consists primarily of a range of separate policies on alcohol, tobacco and illegal psychoactive substances. There is little or no coordination of these policy sectors. In point of fact, for each of the substances or spheres of activity, quite specific requirements must be taken into account, such as social acceptance or the distinction between legal or illegal substances. In recent years, demands for a coherent approach to addiction policy have gained increasing support. Such a demand was put forward with great clarity in the expert report "psychoaktiv.ch" by the Federal Commission for Drug Issues (FCDI), which in 2005 emphatically recommended the development of an addiction policy framework.



The present Report may be regarded as an important step in this direction. It was commissioned by the Federal Office of Public Health and prepared by a common steering group drawn from members of the three federal commissions in the field of addiction: the Federal Commission for Alcohol Issues (FCAI), the Federal Commission for Drug Issues (FCDI) and the Federal Commission for Tobacco Control (FCTC).

The proposals presented in this Report are intended to provide the desired framework for the discussion of a future oriented addiction policy in Switzerland. It broadens the perspective, going beyond the responsibilities of the existing commissions in order to expand the area of enquiry and propose new strategic approaches. In doing so, it calls into question the very concept of addiction policy as it is narrowly defined. The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* deliberately leaves room for manoeuvre for the various stakeholders. Specialists, as well as practitioners and people from administration and politics will be able to take part in the process resulting from this Report and to shape the way in which the recommendations of the Report are implemented with their specialist knowledge and experience.

The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* is aimed at a broad and diverse group of stakeholders in the political arena, academia and practice, and in organisations that deal with issues of addiction. It is, however, also aimed at all those persons who are affected in one way or another. The proposed approaches in terms of scope and strategy represent the agree-

ment of the three Commission delegations and are deserving of a broad discussion. Addiction policy can ultimately only be taken to the next level when it is in step with society's prevalent understanding of addiction, the scientific evidence and the experiences of those affected.

This also implies revisiting more general issues such as the social value of health and human well-being, as well as the cultural question that arises from the consumption of stimulants for pleasure. Some observers argue for a rediscovery of the culture of enjoyment and pleasure, as opposed to the culture of excess and rapid consumption. The path to such a destination, however, stretches out before us – the *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* is designed to help make the journey shorter and easier.

1 Stal

Pascal Strupler Director of the Federal Office of Public Health

About this Report

The Authors

The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* has been produced jointly by delegates of the three Federal Commissions for Alcohol-related Issues (FCAI), for Drug-related Issues (FCDI) and for Tobacco Control (FCTC). As these Federal Commissions had previously worked separately from each other, working together on this Report made it possible for them to compare their approaches and exchange their experiences over a period of two years. In view of the need for a coherent addiction policy, they gave priority to the common ground offered by a public health approach, despite differences on certain issues specific to their areas of responsibility. This made it possible to agree on a joint policy framework.

Aim and target group

The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* aims to stimulate a broad debate on the subject of addiction from a health policy perspective and to prepare the way for a future oriented addiction policy. It does so in full recognition that this view competes with other approaches in politics, society and in business that frequently gain more attention. The Report does not simply focus on issues related to dependence on psychoactive substances, i. e. the routine subject matter for addiction policy. It provides an evidence-based expansion of its scope as well as a strategic reorientation. The Report introduces a policy framework which summarises a set of ten guiding principles that can contribute to a coherent policy on the *problematic and high-risk consumption* of all psychoactive substances or behaviours with addictive potential.

The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* is aimed not only at stakeholders in academia, professional practice and in organisations that deal with addiction issues. It is also specifically aimed at politicians and the public: the Report and in particular the guiding principles inherent in the policy framework represent the joint basic health policy objectives as devised by delegates of the three commissions. *The intention is for the principles of the policy framework to become the subject of an ongoing debate* – recognising that the key elements and objectives of addiction policy are subject to the outcomes of political negotiations. Ultimately, the proposed principles can only prevail if the measures correspond to the predominant understanding of addiction in society. This Report intends to contribute to this indepth discussion on the basis of scientific knowledge and evidence.

Summary

Current addiction policy in Switzerland concentrates primarily on the three areas of alcohol, tobacco and illegal drugs, which until now have demonstrated few points of intersection. For each of these areas, the Federal Council has set up a respective commission of experts, the Federal Commissions for Alcohol Issues (FCAI), Drug Issues (FCDI) and Tobacco Control (FCTC). Earlier, these Commissions, independently of each other and to a different extent, had begun to pursue a *public health strategy*, or at least elements of such a strategy. The delegates from these Commissions, who were requested by the Federal Office of Public Health (FOPH) to develop a coherent addiction policy framework, have accordingly based their work on a *public health approach*. They have used this approach as an instrument to *assess what has been achieved and to identify the present and future need for action*. The result is this Report with its accompanying policy framework.

The Report and the policy framework aim to reduce the burden on individuals, their direct environment and on society. To achieve this, the Report proposes three changes to the scope and three changes to the strategic direction of Swiss addiction policy.

The scope of addiction policy in Switzerland should be expanded so that:

- it not only takes account of dependence as narrowly defined, but above considers all problematic consumption, together with the constantly changing patterns of consumption (*"more than dependence"*),
- it assesses all substances according to the burden of disease they cause, and not merely according to whether they are legal or illegal, or licit or illicit ("*more than legal status*"), and
- it also covers behaviours with addictive potential ("*more than sub-stances*").

The strategic reorientation of addiction policy in Switzerland should:

- help make the healthy choice become the simpler, more attractive and more beneficial option ("more than personal responsibility"),
- retain a strong emphasis on the protection of young people, but also do
 justice to the fact that problematic consumption and dependence are
 not restricted to young people ("more than youth protection"), and
- refrain from staking everything on policy measures within the health sector, but include those policy arenas that also have a decisive influence on addiction policy, and involve other stakeholders (*"more than health policy measures"*).

This expansion in terms of scope and strategy of a policy which until now has been divided into separate areas is reflected in the policy framework. On the basis of a public health approach, the Report sets out *ten guiding principles for an effective future policy on addiction*. The key orientations are the same as for the Report: the prevention of problems arising from substance abuse and problematic modes of behaviour and the reduction of the harm suffered by individuals, their social environment and society as a whole.

11

Summary The Challenge of Addiction



1 Introduction

13

The problem of defining addiction

The word "*addiction*" does not fully capture the content of this Report, and the term is also burdened by its almost inflationary overuse in everyday speech. However, there is no other word that can adequately cover the many different dimensions discussed in this Report either. When the Report speaks of the *Challenge of Addiction*, it refers to the patterns of psychoactive substance use or the behaviours that have the potential for addiction and which warrant *action in the area of health policy*. This means that the most important objective of addiction policy lies in various forms of harmful use, habitual consumption and problematic consumption; this new form of addiction policy does not deal primarily (or exclusively) with dependence.

In the literature on addiction, the concept of *dependence* is used to designate symptoms that may include mental, physical and social harm and other consequences arising from consumption of substances. The same term may be applied to forms of behaviour, such as gambling, that are not substance-related but which can equally lead to dependence. The most recent findings in the neurosciences regard dependence as a process combining biological, mental and social factors in which the brain adapts itself biologically to the act of consumption. Dependence is described as a consequence of repeatedly disrupted regulatory events in the reward system.¹ The effects perceived as positive by the individual cause similar processes in the brain regardless of the substance or behaviour.² A typical effect is the recurrent urge to have the substance is within easy reach or the person concerned is exposed to the substance or reminded of it in some way.

It must be borne in mind, though, that while no society is free from stimulants and addictive substances,³ the manner in which the various substances are consumed is subject to change in all societies and all time

The Challenge of Addiction

It would not be right to seek to regulate every potentially harmful form of behaviour

periods; both attitudes and the available substances can change. Certain stimulants which at a certain time are perceived as addictive later become acceptable and are regarded as a source of enjoyment, and vice versa. The history of coffee or opium illustrates this clearly.

The consumption of addictive substances always fulfils a diversity of social and individual needs, ranging from pleasure to culturally and socially bound behaviours and rituals, the conscious breaking of rules, and inducing intoxication and euphoria. Consumption can increase psychological functions such as feelings of well-being and relaxation. It can also help reduce inhibitions, alleviate anxiety and pain, and suppress unpleasant memories; it may also be intended to sustain or increase performance. For these reasons alone, it would not be appropriate to declare all consumption to be addictive or to seek to regulate every potentially harmful form of behaviour.

Many substances are consumed without causing any problems in the majority of cases, although in some cases even a very small quantity can affect a person's health. *From a public health perspective, however, the focus is on those patterns of consumption that are called substance-related disorders.* These patterns – with differing levels of frequency and seriousness depending on the substance – concern consumption with undesirable physical, mental or social consequences. Habitual consumption in particular can, depending on the substance, lead to dependence with the corresponding consequences for the individual and his or her environment. And it is not always the substances themselves that are harmful to health; often harm is also caused by accompanying components or circumstances. In the case of tobacco, for example, addiction is due to the substance nicotine, but regular consumption of tobacco products exposes smokers to other harmful substances (including tar and carbon monoxide) that damage their health.

The choice of a public health approach

Based on the fact that the problems arising from the consumption of psychoactive substances and from potentially addictive behaviours are highly relevant to the health of the population, the delegates of the three commissions agreed that a public health approach constituted the most appropriate framework for their deliberations. Such an approach provides a common foundation for an addiction policy that can be applied to all psychoactive substances and potentially addictive behaviours, and in particular to problematic patterns of consumption and the environments which induce them. There are three major characteristics of a public health approach in particular that facilitate common approaches in many different areas of addiction policy:

- A public health perspective requires a focus that goes beyond the identified health problem to include and *promote healthy behaviour combined with broad structural interventions*. While structural interventions incorporate social and environmental measures, and measures relating to social inequalities, the promotion of healthy behaviour seeks to strengthen the resources and skills that enable individuals to assume responsibility for their own health more readily. The public health view also includes, where this is useful, a reduction of harm and access to therapy.
- 2. From a public health perspective, the nature and extent of government action are determined for each health problem according to a number of factors: the common good, the burden of health problems on the public at large and the individuals concerned, the social and economic consequences, and the responsibility for protecting vulnerable groups.
- 3. From a public health perspective, a precise observation of social development is indispensable in order to ensure successful implementation. Healthy forms of behaviour derive from and are formed as a component of social and cultural change processes; they are ever more closely connected to the world of consumption and the media, and they reflect processes of individualisation and differentiation in society.

The use of a public health approach in addiction policy therefore means reconsidering the responsibility of the state. This applies in particular in relation to the prevention of problems arising from the consumption of and risky exposure to psychoactive substances and potentially addictive forms of behaviour. Too frequently the debate focuses on the pros and cons of banning substances or restricting forms of behaviour and neglects the very broad scope of government action in relation to addiction. Depending on the situation, the state may provide information, engage in prevention measures, set up task forces, provide incentives, introduce statutory regulations and enforcement procedures (law enforcement), regulate markets and limit harm. All these measures also fall within the purview of this Report.

A public health approach includes one further important characteristic that links it closely to the challenges of a future oriented addiction policy: it draws early attention to important trends in the health of the population and thus enables action based on foresight, and not merely reaction.

The building blocks

In Switzerland, a great deal has already been achieved in addiction policy, and some of these achievements have come to be recognised internationally as models of their kind. The work that went into this Report accordingly builds on the important addiction policy advances of recent decades, such as the *psychoaktiv.ch* Report,⁴ the national programmes on alcohol (NPA)⁵ and tobacco (NPT)⁶ and on the third package of measures introduced to reduce the problems connected with drugs (MaPaDro III);⁷ there are also significant approaches at cantonal level and at local level. All these factors have stimulated a lively social and political debate on addiction, dependence and problematic consumption in Switzerland, and in doing so they have contributed to a change in the landscape of addiction policy.

Recent decades have shown that new principles can certainly be introduced into addiction policy in Switzerland. An example with a high international profile is the *move from an exclusively abstinence-oriented approach in policies related to illegal drugs to an approach that includes harm reduction*. Harm reduction has now gained social acceptance and has been codified in Swiss law since a referendum in 2008.⁸ Harm reduction acknowledges that besides the immediate harm caused by the consumption of substances, there can also be subsequent harm that is preventable. That this approach can be used not merely in relation to illegal substances is demonstrated by an example from the area of alcohol: the early identification of a *designated driver* or the provision of means of transport home at events involving high alcohol consumption. By doing this it is possible to prevent traffic accidents as harmful consequences of alcohol consumption.

In relation to tobacco, a certain reorientation of policy has consisted of a move away from an approach aimed solely at smokers towards the protection of third parties, the passive smokers. The associated policy is aimed at local bans on smoking in certain environments as a means of limiting the harm to third parties and also of cutting back on smoking generally.

Many of the goals, models and principles developed up to now in Swiss addiction policy are still highly relevant. These include the Four Pillars Policy on drugs and the principle of harm reduction in illegal drug policy. They have in the meantime become firmly established as a mindset in political thinking and drug policy action and are not presented in detail in this Report. What is significant is the extent to which they are also valid for other areas of addiction. Many of the health policy proposals in the areas of prevention, health promotion and market regulation have not yet received the political go-ahead for their implementation, despite the fact that experts are largely in agreement on the importance of precisely these areas of action. Accordingly, these areas will be closely dealt with in this Report.

In Swiss drugs policy, the cube model (s. Figure 1) of *psychoaktiv.ch* has been useful in explaining the complexities of substance-related strategies to a public that extends far beyond the world of specialists. The cube establishes the relationship between the *three dimensions of an addiction policy*, whereby the various elements may be weighted differently, depending on the type of substance or problematic behaviour:

- the Four Pillars of Swiss addiction policy (prevention and health promotion, therapy, harm reduction and market regulation/law enforcement),
- the various psychoactive substances irrespective of their legal status, and
- the patterns of consumption, which, depending on the substance, are divided up into low-risk consumption, problematic consumption, and dependence.

Even though these classifications do not apply equally for all substances, this model has helped towards a major advance in understanding.

Figure 1

The cube model from the *psychoaktiv.ch* Report by the Federal Commission for Drug Issues (FCDI, 2006; slightly amended). The model does not represent any specific form of drugs policy, but should rather be used for testing and improving individual measures or even the entire addiction policy of a country. The substances are listed in alphabetical order.



- 1 Comprehensive prevention: Health protection, health promotion
- and early recognition

- 2 Therapy: Therapy with various treatment options; social integration
- **3** Harm reduction: For individuals and for society
- 4 Law enforcement: Market regulation and youth protection

Areas of tension involving Individual – Society – State – Market

For the public health perspective of this Report, it is particularly significant that the protection of health is considered a duty of the state by Article 118 of the Swiss Federal Constitution. Narcotic substances are explicitly mentioned in this article, at the same time as foodstuffs, therapeutic products, organisms, chemicals and products that may damage health. The policy makes a clear distinction, however, between narcotics (banned under criminal law) and other substances or products (subject to a whole range of market regulations, including total prohibition).

In the area of addiction policy, this constitutional principle of *health protection* repeatedly comes into conflict with the constitutional principle of *economic freedom*, guaranteed in Article 27 of the Swiss Federal Constitution and in the cantonal constitutions. Economic freedom is a fundamental right in Switzerland, but despite this, a restriction of economic freedom may be justified provided it is based on an overriding public interest, is based on appropriate legal provisions and goes only as far as is absolutely necessary.

This is the exact point at which the arguments start. First of all, with regard to the relationship between the state and the economy: where does economic freedom end and where exactly does the state's responsibility for health begin? Secondly, with regard to the relationship between the state and the individual, there is on the one hand the issue of the freedom and the responsibility of citizens, and on the other the extent to which the state may encroach on these by enacting laws. Is the state authorised to intervene in a supportive or regulatory manner, and if so to what extent? How the state acts in this area of tension is largely dependent on the concept of the state and of the values prevalent in a diverse society. Modern societies, it is true, have largely accepted that persons suffering from dependence are ill and entitled to medical help and treatment. There

There is a need to consider the dynamic between individual, society, the state and

is a markedly lower acceptance, however, of many of the preventive measures that would be required in order to curb the problems of addiction at an earlier point of intervention.

In addiction policy therefore, there is a constant need to consider the complex dynamic between individual, society, the state and market forces. The dangers or harm induced by a substance, for example, must always be assessed against its utility as perceived by individuals; or consideration must be given to the extent to which it is necessary to intervene on health grounds in the market or to restrict the choices of a majority with low risk patterns of consumption. Since state interventions touch on a wide number of interests, the debate on health policy proposals sometimes makes a provocative reference to a culture of prohibition or to a "nanny" state. In addition, such considerations and assessments are rendered even more difficult as a result of the largely historical but scientifically unfounded distinction between legal and illegal substances.⁹ They are, however, also frequently reinforced for ideological reasons. In Switzerland moreover, many government interventions on health must be voted on politically, either in Parliament or in popular votes or referendums. This process is time-consuming and occasionally has a delaying effect. Precisely for this reason, however, it can also constitute a social learning process, as was demonstrated by the one step at a time acceptance of the Four Pillars approach in drugs policy over two decades or so of extensive discussions.

As a result, the boundaries in this area of conflicting interests have to be renegotiated over and again, and cannot – on account of substantial economic interests – simply be shifted for the benefit of health protection. In Switzerland, the long tradition of liberal thought has helped bring about harm reduction as a firm element of illegal drugs policy, but it is also precisely on account of this tradition that it is exceedingly difficult to impose restrictions on the legal market. It is also the case that the criminal law approach with regard to illegal drugs is more readily accepted and has more political support at present than an approach that would regu

late the market. The public debate, however, often neglects to consider just how powerfully the individual's freedom of choice is influenced by environmental and market factors, even though entire research institutes are devoted to exactly this source of influence (s. Chapter 5).

From a public health point of view, it is undeniable that certain patterns of consumption and behaviour can have major negative consequences, both in the short and long term. This means that they lead not only to costs to the health care system, but also to additional social costs. The state and the mechanisms of social solidarity (health insurance companies, invalidity insurance and accident insurance schemes, organisations at local level) cannot by themselves deal with the risks and the externalities of products and services, without also influencing how they are designed and made available. A coherent addiction policy is therefore required, which will also need to enlist the responsibility of other stakeholders: the actors in the marketplace, social organisations and associations and other official bodies and institutions. There is a growing awareness that there is a need to regulate products and services that pose a risk to health, at the level of production and advertising, and in relation to the modalities of distribution. Both the pricing and the marketing of legal addictive substances such as alcohol and tobacco are increasingly coming under scrutiny. In some European countries for example, it has been possible to use pricing policy in order to cut back sharply on the consumption of alcopops.¹⁰

Contradictions and conflicts of interest in addiction policy

A public health perspective on addiction, dependence and problematic consumption impinges upon many interests, players and policy arenas (s. Chapter 2 and 5). Accordingly, reactions are frequently contradictory, and not merely in Switzerland. Something that is unacceptable from a health point of view may enjoy considerable support when seen from a law-andorder perspective. It is for example difficult for society to accept that certain products like tobacco or alcohol are not consumer goods like any others, but are substances which can carry a high potential for addiction. From a health

If the disease burden was the decisive factor for policy formulation, the political priorities would be different

perspective, the production and marketing of such products requires regulation appropriate to the risks they pose to health. In liberal societies, this contrasts with standpoints that use enjoyment, freedom of choice and personal responsibility as arguments against state intervention.

At the same time, there is a steady increase in demands for greater state intervention in the law-and-order domain. These are heard in relation to the close connection between excessive alcohol consumption and violent behaviour in the context of public safety at sports events, for example. Restrictions on smoking for the protection of non-smokers – for example in restaurants – are often criticised as infringements of the personal freedom of smokers and restaurant proprietors. They are far less frequently accepted as measures to protect fellow human beings, as applies for example in the case of the prohibition of driving under the influence of alcohol. In the Swiss context, it is also not recognized that such measures have been introduced following democratic referendums in which they have received a high level of public support. But due to social and political attitudes, the personal freedom demanded for smokers does not extend to cannabis users. When it comes to new phenomena, such as the use of brain performance-enhancing drugs or so-called internet addiction, the positions are not yet clearly apparent, but here too similar fields of conflict are emerging.

In conclusion, it may be said that from the public health perspective, current addiction policy in Switzerland tends to be characterized by entrenched positions. These are frequently based on misjudgements and prejudices, rather than on the evidence of the actual health burden for those directly involved, for third parties and for society as a whole. This means that the policy cannot be said to be well prepared for the future. If the evidence base of the disease burden was accepted as the decisive factor for policy formulation, the political priorities would be different.



2 **Public Health as the Basis**

for a Future Oriented Addiction Policy

The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* follows the approach that is prevalent in today's public health science in its explanation of the causes of dependence and the ensuing consumption patterns, as well as with regard to understanding problematic and risky behaviour.¹¹ Such an approach starts from the assumption that the behaviour patterns involved have many different components which relate to individual factors and social influences as well as to the nature of the substance involved. Similar to the multiple-cause model in the drug area, a public health approach takes account of the relationship between the individual, the social environment and the substance or the addictive behaviour. Because of the impact on health and the consequential disease burden, however, it includes in its activities not only dependence but also problematic consumption. Health experts are in broad agreement with a coherent public health approach to addiction policy, and have repeatedly called for its introduction in Switzerland.

What constitutes a public health approach?

A public health approach is an approach to health policy, "that has the objective of improving health, longevity and the quality of life for entire populations through the promotion of health, the prevention of illness and other health related interventions."¹² In addiction policy, a public health approach is gaining in importance throughout Europe,¹³ not least because it can offer a common foundation for areas of activity that have hitherto remained separate. In what follows, some of the central dimensions of this approach will be presented briefly in order to show how relevant such an approach is to addiction policy. In the area of addiction, it facilitates approaches that are related to substances as well as substance non-specific interventions. The key dimensions of such an approach are: *the burden of health disease, social determinants, government action for the common good, the integration of structural prevention and behavioural prevention as well as health in all policies*.

The burden of disease: the starting point for any public health strategy is the burden of disease for society. This can be measured in various ways. The mortality rate is no longer the only measure; it is now complemented by the metrics of the frequency and distribution of disease and by the consequent burdens incurred by society. The measurement known as "DALY" is being used increasingly: it measures not only mortality, but disability free life years (see Table "The ten most important risk factors for disease in Switzerland"). Public health research shows that the severe health consequences caused by day by day and problematic substance abuse and by certain problematic behaviour patterns affect far greater numbers of the population¹⁴ and thus on the whole have greater health consequences than the smaller numbers affected by dependence as defined in medical terms.

Risk Factor	In percent of all DALYs*
Tobacco consumption	11,2
Hypertension	7,3
Alcohol consumption	7,2
High body-mass-index	6,0
High cholesterol	5,1
Consumption of illegal drugs	2,7
Physical inactivity	2,4
Low consumption of fruit and vegetables	1,6
Unprotected sexual contacts	0,7
Sexual abuse in childhood	0,6

The ten most important risk factors facing health care in Switzerland

* DALY = Disability Adjusted Life Years = the sum of prematurely lost years of life (before the age of 70) and years that are physically or mentally impaired.¹⁵

Social factors of influence: This subsequent burden on health and society, (which can sometimes also have economic consequences) should not be blamed unilaterally on individuals and their health damaging behaviour. A population's and an individual's state of health is determined positively and negatively by a host of protective and harmful factors – not only by behaviour. These factors are called health determinants. Four levels of influence are particularly important:

• the lifestyle and behaviour patterns of the individual,

27

- the support and influence provided by the social environment, which can be beneficial or harmful to health,
- living and working conditions and access to institutions and services,
- the economic, cultural and physical conditions of the environment, such as the standard of living or the employment market.¹⁶

Public health research clarifies the health and illness-related connections between cause and effect in the social environment, for example the importance of social inequality or gender specific differences, but also important factors of social influence such as media or marketing. Public health measures are concerned with the effect of these factors on health, to the extent that they can be modified and influenced. The social determinants thus represent significant points of departure for initiatives in the health sector aimed at health improvement and prevention.¹⁷

Figure 2

Overview of the main health determinants (Health in Switzerland. National Health Report 2008. Bern 2009).



* Agriculture and food production; Education; Work environment; Unemployment; Water and sanitation; Healthcare services; Housing

Government activity for the common good: It is the duty of public health bodies, specialists and organisations to suggest that measures be implemented where the evidence shows that they will help alleviate the severity of health and social problems. Such measures should predominantly be designed to improve health, create more healthy years of life, avoid chronic illness and thereby increase the quality of life. Government measures influence supply and demand, reduce aggravating factors, secure the protection of certain population groups, especially those who are socio-economically disadvantaged, and regulate access to treatment and therapy. Depending on the problem area or type of addiction, policing and public order measures as well as various forms of harm reduction are also among the tools available to the state. In some circumstances, state measures restrict the individual's consumption options or freedom of action, or they impose requirements on economic players, for example through

regulation of access and sales. They thereby also make it possible for many of the persons concerned to enjoy better health and to have access to therapy as well as to have the chance of rehabilitation and social reintegration.

Integration of structural prevention and behavioural prevention: Public health measures always strive for a correspondence between structural measures ("structural prevention") and individual measures ("behavioural prevention"). This type of integrated public health approach reflects the health problems of today's societies; people can develop their health potential fully only when they themselves can influence the factors that determine their health.¹⁸ The central areas of activity include:

- a supportive social environment,
- access to all essential information,

29

- the development of practical skills, and
- the opportunity for individuals to make their own decisions in respect of their health.

In this connection, the measures that are considered to be especially important are those mostly aimed at strengthening resources and means for maintaining health. When this Report speaks of integrated public health measures, it is referring to this dynamic between measures of structural prevention and measures designed to improve individual responsibility for health. In the area of addiction, for example, this means that the focus must not only be on the consumers (ban on driving when under the influence of alcohol), but must also include the producers (market regulation, as is the case, for example, with the ban on the advertising of medicines that are frequently misused or which lead to habitual use and dependence). The balance between these measures must always be adapted with respect to the problem area that is to be addressed. *Health in all policies:* Just as is the case with causative factors, approaches to solutions are also situated in many political arenas. An addiction policy based on a public health approach must therefore take account of decisions made in many political arenas. These can be implemented in full awareness of their health impacts, as in taxation policy and customs and excise law, or through market regulation and the criminal law. They can also, however, have negative impacts on addiction policy, such as the deregulation of cross-border television advertising. In health policy, an approach such as this is designated health in all policies.¹⁹ This proximity to political decisions means that many public health measures can be put into practice successfully only when a political majority based on a social consensus on priorities and approaches can be found.

The social context

The interplay between the individual, the social environment and psychoactive substances or problematic behaviour must be clearly understood as it constitutes a central premise for an addiction policy based on a public health approach. In what follows, three key socio-political developments will be singled out on account of their crucial importance to the development of a future oriented policy framework. They are: *availability, acceleration and virtuality.* Their influence in shaping new patterns of consumption is obvious. For each of these trends, there is detailed scientific analysis which can only be presented briefly here.²⁰

Availability:

the omnipresence of consumption options

Switzerland is one of the most prosperous countries in the world. It offers its inhabitants a high quality of life, high life expectancy and a multiplicity of life options. A highly relevant factor when considering an addiction policy is a specific characteristic of everyday life: the wide availability of

30

Public Health as the Basis The Challenge of Addiction goods and services. The 24/7 principle is becoming increasingly prevalent; everything is available everywhere 24 hours a day and seven days per week, Switzerland is no exception. Coupled with technological developments like the Internet or cash-free shopping, this leads not only to the rapid and simple gratification of needs, but also to a constant incitement to consume.

Modern society is geared towards growth and increased consumption. Marketing, sponsorship, events, media, advertising and pricing mechanisms are structured and designed as far as possible to induce repeat consumption and to make consumption as instantly accessible as possible.²¹ Examples can readily be found in events where participants can consume as many drinks as they wish for a flat-rate price, the trend towards liberalising gambling, special offers on alcohol and tobacco products, and the 24/7 availability of alcohol at motorway service stations.²² For all addictive substances, accessibility plays a decisive part in the extent of their use.

The Boom in Convenience Shops

31

Small retail outlets with long opening hours such as petrol station shops, railway station and airport shops and newsagent kiosks produced a turnover in 2009 of around 4.5 billion Swiss francs. This corresponds to 10% of the retail foodstuff trade. The sector leaders achieved growth rates of between 10% and 40%. They are planning to further expand the range of their merchandise.²³

In a society with such a diversity of consumption options, and a consumption landscape that is becoming ever more confusing to navigate, individuals are increasingly expected to regulate themselves. This applies both to personal everyday life and to consumer choices in the omnipresent marketplace. Through no fault of their own, many people are unable to cope with this situation. While the choice between as many products as possible is frequently presented by suppliers as an expression of freedom and prosperity, recent studies show that in modern affluent societies an increase in choice does not necessarily imply an increase in individual well-being.²⁴

Not only individuals, but also governments face a new challenge: not all measures can continue to be taken purely at national level. On the one hand, the liberalisation and globalisation of markets have required certain countries to withdraw measures and regulations originally introduced for reasons of public health. This is what happened in Sweden and Finland on their accession to the EU when they were obliged to guarantee free market access. The relaxation of advertising restrictions in Switzerland is based on similar economic motives. On the other hand, countries are increasingly required to align their health policies with international or European agreements, such as the World Health Organization (WHO) Framework Convention on Tobacco Control, or with international agreements in the area of illegal drugs policy. In addition, the opening of borders and the existence of the internet create new opportunities for extending the grey and illegal markets. A further development is that legal, illegal and grey markets are increasingly blending together, to some extent with consequences for health: the WHO has drawn attention to the fact that international trade agreements do not take adequate account of the health repercussions of the global trade in goods.²⁵ The anti-drug agency of the United Nations is warning of a further fall in the prices of illegal drugs; new routes to Europe are being used by smuggling gangs and are bringing down the price of transporting drugs.

Acceleration:

consequences of a faster pace of living and high mobility

In many studies, the acceleration in the entire pace of life in conjunction with greater mobility and digitalisation is also increasingly regarded as a factor encouraging substance abuse.²⁶ When people can no longer keep up with the growing pace, addiction problems often increase. This is true in respect to pressure at work,²⁷ but applies equally where there is fear of unemployment. In order to be effective and to be able to cope with as large

32

Public Health as the Basis The Challenge of Addiction The challenges in relation to the virtual world will grow larger

a workload as possible, people increasingly turn to substances such as caffeine, alcohol and nicotine as well as medicines and other psychoactive substances. Alongside soporifics, sedatives and analgesics, anti-depressives are now among the most commonly taken medications among employees.²⁸ A characteristic of substances in demand during periods of increased stress is their short-lived effect. People dependent on nicotine for example often feel an extra compulsion to smoke a cigarette when they are under pressure. A new trend is the use of medicines as a means of increasing performance or "neuroenhancement".²⁹ On the whole, however, the data base on the use of such substances is still inadequate.

Virtuality:

3

the expansion of anonymous space

The significance of the mass media with regard to the use of addictive substances has been researched in detail.³⁰ We know less about the influence on use and behaviour exerted by the development of the internet with its constant and seemingly anonymous availability of content and services. Among the things typical of internet experiences is a high degree of stimulation.³¹ The challenges related to the virtual worlds of the internet and computer will grow larger over the next 20 years, while the ramifications for health policy of this development are not yet clear.³² A variety of developments already give grounds for concern from the viewpoint of health policy: the excessive use of the medium itself, for example, for playing online games. This includes the expansion of online opportunities for gambling, such as poker games, which are potentially highly addictive. They also include internet-based marketing of medicines, which simplifies access to prescription medication, which can then be used improperly. According to estimates made by the World Health Organization (WHO), moreover, around 50 per cent of medicines purchased online are fake, which makes any abuse even riskier.³³

An effective addiction policy must take account of specific social environments

Developments in the area of internet addiction are as yet not clear. Estimates in Switzerland suggest there are over 70,000 internet addicts and 110,000 persons at risk.³⁴ More exact studies giving reliable numbers of persons affected, or research into causes and consequences, are for the most part not yet available.

Outlook

In any society there is always a broad spectrum of consumption and behaviour, ranging from low risk to harmful and high risk. The patterns of consumption are affected by media influences and new sales techniques and incentives. The increase in availability and consumption options for all kinds of products, the growing pace of daily life and work and the allembracing development of virtuality, both in relation to consumption and to everyday communication, all of these represent a completely new socio-political context for addiction policy. It will only be possible to provide an effective pathway and structure for addiction policy if it takes account of these social changes and the new social environments. It must also confront the newly emerging ethical issues in relation to these developments.

34

Public Health as the Basis The Challenge of Addiction


3 The Starting Position in Switzerland

37

An addiction policy split up according to substances

The basis for Switzerland's present addiction policy can be found in the provisions of the Federal Constitution,³⁵ in particular the three articles on alcohol (Article 105, which mentions the harmful effects of alcohol consumption), on special consumption taxes (Article 131, which is the basis for the tax on tobacco), and on the protection of health (Article 118, which covers narcotic substances). This division is a reflection of how Swiss addiction policy came into being historically (s. Chapter 1), and why it is split up into three policy sectors related to substances. For each of the three problem areas of alcohol, tobacco and narcotic substances, the Federal Council set up a separate Federal Commission. The recommendations of these Commissions meet with political support to a very mixed degree, for they not only impinge on a number of economic interests, but they also enjoy varied levels of acceptance on account of the divergent attitudes of the political players. This frequently makes it difficult to approach a given problem impartially and rationally, despite the existence of scientific findings on risks to health and potential for addiction. In addition, many important decisions with implications for addiction policy are made in other policy sectors (s. Chapter 5).

Alcohol: In relation to alcohol, the federal government must pay special attention to its harmful effects. For spirits a framework is provided by the Alcohol Act.³⁶ A portion of the revenues from alcohol taxes (the "alcohol tenth") goes to the cantons to support measures for combating alcohol dependence and the abuse of narcotic substances and pharmaceuticals, as well as the problems arising from the consumption of other substances. Beyond this, various acts and ordinances (such as the Foodstuffs Act,³⁷ the Radio and Television Act³⁸ and the Road Traffic Act³⁹) contain provisions on alcoholic beverages. The cantons are responsible for the regulation of the bar and restaurant trade and for stipulating opening hours. With the deployment of a National Programme on Alcohol (NPA) 2008–2012, the Federal Council is attempting to give strategic orientation to Switzerland's alcohol policy and to coordinate the activities of the bodies, organisations and federal institutions involved.

Tobacco: In relation to tobacco, there is similarly a National Programme on Tobacco (NPT). On the other hand, there is no separate constitutional duty to pay heed to the harmful effects of consumption of tobacco, such as exists in the case of alcohol, or to the protection of health as is the case with illegal drugs. Nor is there a Tobacco Act. The individual tobacco regulations can be found in a wide variety of other acts and ordinances (for example in the Foodstuffs Act,⁴⁰ the Radio and Television Act,⁴¹ the Employment Act⁴² or in the Tobacco Ordinance⁴³). In parallel to international developments, however, over the past ten years the discussion on the harmful effects of smoking has also been gathering force in Switzerland. This discussion has addressed the harmful effects both on smokers and on third parties or passive smokers. Referendums and parliamentary proposals have curtailed the practice of smoking in numerous cantons. In consequence, the Federal Assembly approved a Federal Act on Protection against Passive Smoking,⁴⁴ which permits stricter regulation at cantonal level. This came into force on 1 May 2010.

Illegal drugs: The policy framework for dealing with illegal drugs is set out in the Narcotics Act.⁴⁵ The topic of illegal drugs sparked off a controversial political debate in the early 1990s, especially in connection with the open drug scenes in various Swiss cities. Since then the Four Pillars model for drugs policy has met with social acceptance in various referendums at local, cantonal and federal levels. The current policy priorities of the Federal Council are specified in the government's third package of measures for reducing drug-related problems (MaPaDro III) 2006–2011.

Despite the broad social debate, the status of illegal drugs still remains the same, even following the revision of the Narcotics Act of 2008. This does not imply, however, that all prohibited substances carry a greater potential risk to health than legal drugs do. Nonetheless, the illegality of certain substances sets in motion specific consequences for those who consume them, in comparison with those who consume legal substances. These consequences include the threat of criminalisation and the stigmatisation and ostracism that this may bring. In a fundamentally illegal market, moreover, regulatory measures other than consistent penalties for production, trafficking and consumption are not possible. In particular there is

Many decisions with implications for addiction policy are made in other policy sectors

no possibility of influencing the quality of the substances in illegal markets and thus their potential to do harm. Prevention, treatment and harm reduction moreover are made far more difficult because the consumers are very hard to contact.

Addictions not specific to substances: The area of non-substance related addictions has gained political attention only to a limited extent. A case in point is gambling, for instance, which is mentioned in the Federal Gambling Act⁴⁶ or in the inter-cantonal agreement on the supervision and the authorisation of, and application of proceeds arising from lotteries and betting. At present, there are no laws at federal level, nor are there programmes or measures on addictions that respond to addictions related to behaviours rather than substances. There are, however, initiatives at cantonal and city level and there is a growing awareness and debate in specialist circles.

Medication Addiction: In the area of addiction to medicines, there is no federal policy addressing the topic in any depth, despite the fact that there is a growing turnover of medicines with a potential for abuse and dependence in Switzerland.⁴⁷

Separate political structures

30

These sharply divergent starting points and developments are reflected in various structures; the individual substances are mostly treated separately in Swiss policy. This separateness relates to administrative units as well as to the panels of experts and specialist organisations. Within the various federal structures, the individual policy sectors are embedded in different networks of social associations, specialist organisations and administrative units. These act in unison only rarely, if at all. Geographical and cultural differences are also significant within Switzerland. And in addition there are multiple conflicts of interest blocking the way to a coherent and unified method for moving ahead. The consequence is that legal and illegal substances and the four pillars of drugs policy are at times played off against each other. The challenge is to change this by means of a shared and coherent political approach.

Strategic common ground

In point of fact, the existing programmes in the areas of alcohol, drugs and tobacco already reveal a range of common interests in respect of strategy and content. This is especially the case in relation to a public health approach comprising both structural and individual measures. All three Commissions take a clear stand. It will be possible to build a future oriented addiction policy on this common ground.

For all programmes it can be stated:

- At present they are already pursuing a common public health approach; they do not exclusively address the individual and her/his personal responsibility. Structural measures and a heightened sense of cross-society responsibility are considered to be equally valuable and just as necessary.
- The programmes also have a shared public health perspective in relation to the role of the state and the need for government action. This is especially the case in respect of measures in other sectors of policy. Nor do the programmes consider action necessary only at the point of consumption – they all recognise the importance of prevention.
- They do not delay action until the onset of actual dependence, for the harm and damage inflicted on the individual and society arise in accordance with the substance or behaviour, and can be present with or without addiction. Any use of tobacco, for example, is fundamentally linked to health risks, whereas in the case of alcohol the risks primarily emerge in connection with problematic consumption.
- They all pursue a mix of measures and in doing so emphasise the importance of a coherent course of action.



The public health approach of Switzerland's three Addiction Policy Commissions

National Programme on Tobacco 2008–2012

"Overall social responsibility: Smokers put not only their own health at risk, but also that of other persons (passive smoking). Tobacco consumption is not simply a private matter – it represents a general social challenge."

National Programme on Alcohol 2008–2012

41

"It is the *broad social acceptance* of alcohol as a supposedly ordinary consumer good that leads many people to lose their sense of distance and their ability to make a clear-headed judgement. The real risk potential of alcohol goes unrecognised all too often."

"Alcohol policy should concentrate more firmly on reducing the negative effects of alcohol consumption on both *personal environment and on society.*"

Third package of measures taken by the federal government in order to reduce drug-related problems 2006–2011

"Both the path to addiction and its consequences are individual. In general, however, it can be stated that addiction leads to a loss of control over certain aspects of one's own behaviour, which leads in turn to physical, mental, social or economic problems both for the affected person and for her or his *immediate and broader environment.*"

> The Starting Position in Switzerland The Challenge of Addiction

Towards a coherent addiction policy

Addiction policy in Switzerland, currently split up according to three substances, has had different impacts in the respective areas of alcohol, tobacco and illegal drugs. Independently from each other, however, the federal government's three addiction policy Commissions have increasingly pursued a public health approach. But the Swiss addiction policy is not truly coherent, and this weakens both its impact and its credibility. In particular, the policy is not based on an understanding of the disease burden and societal consequences arising from substance abuse or potentially addictive behaviours. In Switzerland there is still no congruence between the scientific findings and the expert recommendations on the one hand, and perception and implementation at a political level on the other. Addiction policy so far shows also that new developments and scientific evidence do not readily find their way into political action on addiction.

Clear differences between the three areas must also be taken into consideration. The concepts of the Four Pillars Policy, for example, are understood and applied differently in the separate policy sectors, or simply not applied at all. In the case of tobacco and alcohol, the predominant discourse is about regulation, not law enforcement, and in these areas the emphasis is on prevention through market regulation. Enforcement or police action comes into play in respect of legal substances when they are sold to minors, or when their consumption is inappropriate, such as when someone is driving under the influence of alcohol. Police action is also deployed in the maintenance of public order, for example at sports events where alcohol is consumed. In the case of tobacco, the concept of harm reduction is not used, while for the area of illegal drugs, it is a key concept and is also gaining in importance in the context of alcohol policy.

There are contradictions, moreover, in the political discussion (s. Chapter 5): a high degree of scepticism comes from special interest groups that oppose all forms of market regulation on the grounds that this is a restriction of the freedom of the individual. At the same time, however, the argument of freedom is immediately rejected when there is a proposal to

Scientific findings and political perceptions remain incongruent

abolish the separation between legal and illegal substances. This represents a further obstacle to coherent action for dealing with problematic and risky consumption. This obstacle is magnified even further when it comes to new areas of addiction policy such as behavioural addictions.

The changing patterns of consumption are leading to a shift in the disease burden (s. Chapter 4). Current addiction policy is not adequately prepared for this. A public health approach will be able to recognise this shift in problems and respond to them in a targeted, coherent and therefore credible manner. This could improve the addiction policy's impact on health as well as enhance its credibility.



4 Scope of the Policy Framework

for the Challenge of Addiction

Current addiction policy in Switzerland, just like the public perception of addiction, has been characterised by focusing on dependence and its consequences (s. Chapter 3). However, the consequences of the problems arising from the consumption of stimulants and addictive substances affect a far larger percentage of the population than those that are defined as medically dependent. As a result of the findings of the research on both addiction and on public health, the *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* proposes a broader approach to addiction policy. Addiction policy should be expanded in its scope to encompass three reference points: *more than dependence, more than legal status, and more than substances.* These are explained below. "More than" is intended to convey the expanded scope of the policy – the aim is not to declare every pleasurable activity to be a form of dependence, nor is it to make every potentially harmful act the subject of regulation.

More than dependence

Changing patterns of consumption, different groups of affected persons, new products and markets

Most health-related and social consequences of the use of addictive substances are not due to dependence in the medical sense, but to problematic consumption. A public health approach expands the scope of addiction policy to go beyond the narrow definition of dependence. As a result, the focus moves to the diversity of patterns of consumption, groups of persons affected, temporary fads and fashions, or trends in the legal and illegal markets.

Changing patterns of consumption

No society is free of stimulants and addictive substances. The consumption of various substances fulfils a range of personal and social needs (s. Chapter 1) and the corresponding behaviour patterns always involve an interplay between the individual, society and the addictive substance. These findings are supported by research into the brain: addiction is the result of a process in which many biological, psychological and social factors interact (s. Chapters 1 and 2).

Patterns of consumption are constantly changing, both in the legal and the illegal markets. The *World Drug Report 2009*⁴⁸ for example points out that the global demand for cocaine, opiates or cannabis in the largest markets is stagnating or falling. On the other hand, the production and consumption of "designer drugs" made in the laboratory are on the rise. These include for example amphetamines, which in various combinations are known as "speed", the party drug ecstasy or the stimulant known as "crystal". The individual motivation for the consumption of legal and illegal substances is also changing, with an increasing trend currently being to consume two or more substances, either alternately or together. For example, a new pattern of consumption has emerged in the form of non-alcohol-dependent "risky drinkers". They are predominantly young and male, although the number of female risky drinkers is increasing.⁴⁹

These new patterns of consumption not only reflect broad availability: in a pluralistic society, personal identity is also defined by the products and substances that a person consumes, by the market, by the group in which a person moves (the "peer group"), or by social expectations. Psychoactive substances are normally taken by users with a specific aim in mind: they have become commonplace in the culture of the workplace and of fun and leisure, and a factor in belonging to a group.

Both legal and illegal suppliers as well as the government influence patterns of consumption, supplieres by providing and advertising certain substances and the government by regulating and prohibiting these substances and providing related information. Consequently, advertising, due to its influence on consumption and patterns of consumption, has become a key issue in health policy. The entertainment industry also contributes to the spread of problematic and high-risk consumption. The situation is not always helped by the media's regular trivialization of the



Many attitudes to addiction are outdated or wrong

47

problems involved. An interaction between supply, the incentive to consume, user groups and patterns of consumption emerges. Addiction policy measures must therefore always target the environment and supply as well as consumers and demand.

A wide variety of patterns has developed with regard to the consumption of psychoactive substances, in conjunction with a changing profile of consumers. Many attitudes to "addiction" are therefore outdated or wrong. These include expectations as to the background, gender or age of consumers (s. Chapter 5). Thus in many societies there is evidence of an increase in alcohol dependence and drug use among older people – on the one hand, consumers are getting older, on the other new life events lead to new patterns of consumption. In relation to gender, what once seemed to be certainties no longer look so certain: thus almost as many 15-year old girls smoke in Switzerland as boys of the same age. Alcohol consumption among girls has also increased in recent years, and at the same time anorexia among young men has become more common.⁵⁰ Many consumers no longer use only one substance, but (particularly in their leisure time) take two or more psychoactive substances at once, even in connection with sporting activities. Increasingly, there is a combination of behavioural dependencies and problematic or dependent substance abuse; examples include the taking of stimulants to stay awake in order to keep playing an online game, or the high proportion of casino gamblers who are smokers.⁵¹

Examples of new patterns of consumption are:

- episodic or chronically excessive alcohol consumption among a certain minority (in certain cases in conjunction with new social forms of drinking in public such as "botellones" or "Harassenläufe" (drinking contests)) as well as the increase in the number of very young binge drinkers; on the other hand, alcohol consumption among young people in general is on the decline,
- the increase in the consumption of drinks containing caffeine and taurine, occasionally mixed with alcohol,

- new nicotine products and patterns of nicotine consumption as a result of the changed acceptability of tobacco smoking,
- new patterns in the consumption of illegal drugs due to the decline in the price of substances such as cocaine and heroin,
- the import and the use of naturally occurring, psychoactive substances such as the plant Salvia Divinorum (salvia),
- the medicalisation of everyday life due to the increasing use of analgesics, soporifics, sedatives and stimulants, appetite suppressants, antidepressants, anti-psychotics and other psychiatric medication,
- problems arising from the consumption of anaesthetics and central nervous system stimulants in the party scene,
- the use of substances to enhance performance during the working week and, in contrast, the use of psychoactive substances to shape leisure and winding down activities at the weekend,
- the consumption of easily available and cheap industrial substances such as solvents (for example GBL/GHB) to induce a state of euphoria.

New Developments - Different Challenges

Alcohol consumption

Around one million Swiss people drink in a problematic way, a good three-quarters of these only occasionally ("episodic drinkers"). Some 100,000 men and women drink too much alcohol chronically and a further 155,000 are not only chronic drinkers, but also engage in binge drinking on occasion. However, overall per capita alcohol consumption in Switzerland is falling.⁵²

The number of young binge drinkers (five or more glasses alcohol at one time, at least three times in the past month) fell slightly between 2003 and 2007 for the first time in many years, but still remains high, particularly among 16-year old boys, where the level is just under

18% (girls 8%). In addition, in 2007, three quarters of 13-year-olds had consumed alcohol at least once in their lives, and more than half of these within the 30 days prior to being questioned.⁵³

Smoking

The number of smokers has fallen since 2001 and currently lies at around a quarter of all 14 to 65-year-olds.⁵⁴ Almost one half of 14-year-olds admit that they have smoked a cigarette at least once in their lives (around 50% of boys and 47% of girls).⁵⁵

Illegal drugs

The consumption of cannabis, cocaine and ecstasy has increased in the past ten years. At present, around 20% of the population over 15 years of age have consumed cannabis (24% of men and 15% of women). Experience of consumption has also risen in the case of cocaine (from 1.6% to 2.8%) and ecstasy (from 1.0% to 1.8%).

Among young people, it is clear that more boys consume cannabis than girls (current consumers number 11.5% and 5.1% respectively). However, here consumption has stabilised and has recently begun to fall among school pupils.⁵⁶ The number of young men who have experience of hard drugs has increased, whereas the number of young women with such experience has remained stable.⁵⁷

Consumption of medicines

The use of soporifics and sedatives increased slightly among the Swiss population from 2002 to 2007 (soporifics: from 2.3% to 2.8%; sedatives: from 2.4% to 2.6%). There was an especially pronounced rise in the consumption of soporifics in the case of women aged 70 or over (2002: 11.3%, 2007: 14.2%).⁵⁸

Compulsive gambling

49

For 2007, the percentage of people in Switzerland who gamble or have gambled pathologically ("lifetime prevalence") was estimated at 1.1 % of the population between 18 and 98, and the number of players whose behaviour is problematic at 2.2 %.⁵⁹ In 1998 the estimated percentages amounted to 0.8 % and 2.2 % respectively.⁶⁰

The diversity of consumers

Society is not simply divided into consumers and non-consumers of substances. In between dependence and abstinence, there is a multitude of different patterns of consumption in relation to many substances and forms of behaviour with a potential for dependence. These patterns are – as a reflection of our pluralistic society – spread among various social groups (s. Chapter 5) and are certainly not encountered solely among social problem groups. Thus in everyday life, certain forms of behaviour and forms of consumption – for example drinking alcohol– are expected as part of traditional rituals.

Many patterns of consumption are closely linked with the process of growing up and development in adolescence, which is why persons in this age group are particularly vulnerable.⁶¹ Some of the patterns of consumption allow the consumer to identify with a particular group. Others, however, are partly shaped and promoted in modern societies in a special way by producers and suppliers, the media and new means of communication. A survey by the youth advisory service "Streetwork" in the city of Zurich showed that only 5 per cent of interviewees never consumed psychoactive substances at parties, while 50 per cent took them occasionally and 45 per cent on a regular basis.⁶² In relation to forms of consumption, risk behaviour, availability of substances or incidence of forms of behaviour and also with regard to the addictive behaviour itself, clear differences and clear shifts between the sexes are apparent. Special attention must be given to this. For example, men and not women are more likely to be affected by internet addiction, while young women are more commonly affected by eating disorders (such as anorexia) than young men.

Attention must also be paid to especially vulnerable consumer groups: children growing up in families affected by dependence, or older people whose problematic consumption or dependence is less visible and who are embarrassed and therefore less likely to admit to it.

Many patterns of consumption are not encountered solely among social problem qroups

New markets and products

What is on offer – both in the legal and the illegal markets – influences the patterns of consumption and creates new trends. One example is the increase in the number of poker tournaments on offer (including those online), where poker is occasionally classified not as a game of chance, but as a game of skill, in the hope of attracting a broader public.⁶³ Often there are no legal provisions to deal with these new offers, it is unclear who is responsible, and this is immediately exploited to hasten the spread. The pressure of new markets and products means that a fresh start has to be made in each case to draw up legal provisions; this in turn makes it appear as if the state is introducing an excess of regulation. Such a perception underscores the arguments of the producers and providers and is in some cases actively encouraged by them.

Examples of new markets or products include:

- cocktails such as alcopops and beer-mix drinks (shandies) that seek to attract new consumer groups, such as young women,
- the accessibility or availability of alcoholic drinks due to the sale of alcohol in 24/7 petrol station shops and the bargain offers of alcoholic drinks in discount supermarket chains,
- new products that permit the consumption of nicotine,
- new party drugs,

51

- the unregulated internet sales of pharmaceutical products, which encourages the abuse of medicines,
- the increasing misuse of therapeutic products to enhance brain performance, and the abuse of medicines used in the treatment of dementia and Parkinson's.

More than legal status

The everyday potential for harm and dependence

The potential to do harm and the actual amount of harm that may be done have no correlation with whether a psychoactive substance is legal or illegal. The overall harm to health caused by legal substances is clearly higher than that caused by illegal substances. The same applies to the social and economic harm to families and society. A public health approach therefore avoids making a distinction between legal and illegal substances, which is of little help in formulating health policy. A future oriented addiction policy also needs to take account not only of the misuse of alcohol, tobacco and illegal drugs but also the abuse of medicines and of new pharmacological products designed to optimise physical and mental capabilities. Basically, this means facing up to new regulatory issues.

The distinction between legal and illegal substances

With its pragmatic Four Pillars Policy, Switzerland is playing a successful pioneering role internationally in relation to illegal drugs policy. But today in society as a whole and in relation to health policy, the major challenge primarily lies in the problems arising from the consumption of substances that are legally available. In this area, Switzerland has some catching up to do as far as addiction policy is concerned, both in relation to legislation on tobacco and alcohol. A legal substance like alcohol is widely available in everyday life, is advertised as a lifestyle and luxury product, and, regardless of its risk and dependence potential, enjoys widespread social acceptance. Generally speaking, politicians, manufacturers and retailers and a large proportion of consumers are reluctant to regard or even opposed to regarding such substances as the object of addiction policy. These legal substances can however lead to a broader spectrum of negative physical, psychological and social effects among consumers and related persons than the illegal substances that are the subject of so much attention in the media.⁶⁴ The burden of disease arising from legal substances is also greater (s. Chapter 2).

52

A coherent addiction policy must take account of all psychoactive substances

Reorientation of addiction policy abroad

The European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction points out that in Europe, some countries have already broadened their addiction and drugs policy approach. They consider legal and illegal drugs together, take account of behavioural dependencies as well, and also include a multitude of different patterns of consumption. These countries also call for a public health approach and cite the findings of research into addiction.⁶⁵

In every country, the debate on the distinction between legal and illegal substances flares up from time to time.⁶⁶ In parallel to this, public attitudes to addiction and drugs change. In Switzerland in 2008, 68 per cent of citizens approved the revised Narcotics Act in a referendum. As a result, the Four Pillars Policy and the heroin prescription programme, which was highly controversial at the beginning the 1990s, became part of the law. Since then, numerous cantonal referendums have seen measures introduced to protect passive smokers, moves that have now been incorporated in new federal legislation (s. Chapter 5). In the case of alcohol, it is the public order dimension accompanying or related to consumption (violence in stadiums, drinking alcohol in public) that has fuelled the debate on the availability of alcohol.

There is a broad social consensus that at an individual and social level, depending on the situation, harm reduction should be offered in addition to therapy and treatment. However, there is no consensus on the issue of whether the legal status of psychoactive substances should be decided according to their respective potential for doing harm or on the basis of attitudes founded on historical or moral arguments (s. Chapter 1). A coherent addiction policy must however go beyond a policy on illegal drugs and take account of all psychoactive substances – both legal and illegal.

Abuse of medicines

In addition to the familiar legal and illegal substances that cause addiction, the abuse of medicines means that the perspective must be expanded to take in medicines, both those available on prescription and without prescription. Three groups of drugs are of particular concern: sedatives, analgesics (painkillers) and stimulants. Benzodiazepines have a relaxing-sedating effect and form the most commonly prescribed active ingredient group of all the psychoactive medicines. They have a comparatively high dependency potential. Analgesics are the most used group of medicines with the potential for misuse. At present, the problematic use of prescribed and over-the-counter drugs is primarily a problem seen among women, although there are signs that cases involving men are on the increase. In Switzerland, however, there has been no study to date that has investigated aspects of the abuse of medicines in specific relation to men.

Here again the approach to addiction has to take account of more than just the defined dependence on medicines. In a Swiss study on the consumption of medicines conducted in 1999, a relatively high number of interviewees (39 per cent) taking medication had at the same time a basically healthy profile (90 per cent of the interviewees regarded themselves as in good health). The prevention of illness is becoming an ever more important motivation for using medicines. In addition, a variety of indispositions are cited as the reason for taking medication: these include difficulties in sleeping, digestive complaints as well as stress and personal tension.⁶⁷

The effects of the problems arising from the consumption of medicines have hitherto not been emphasised in the debate on addiction policy, a state of affairs that is further complicated by the existence of a grey area between the legal and the illegal dispensing of medicines. This aspect of a future oriented addiction policy, moreover, runs counter to powerful economic interests. A look at the figures shows however that this field of activity must form an integral element of any addiction policy.

Medicines must be made an integral part of any addiction policy

54

Problematic consumption of medicines in Switzerland

In 2002, 7 % of Swiss adults consumed analgesics, soporifics or sedatives every day. 68

Women of all age groups consume medicines on a daily basis considerably more frequently than men of the same age. Among the elderly, this difference increases markedly: whereas 8.1% of men over the age of 75 admitted having taken a sleeping aid every day in the seven days prior to questioning, 16.9% of women, almost twice as many, said they had done so.⁶⁹

In the period from 2005 to 2007, the main or secondary problem for around 15% of patients in an in-patient addiction therapy unit was medicines. In most of these 180 or so cases the drug involved was a form of benzodiazepine (a soporific or sedative).⁷⁰ Here again it is clear that problematic consumption by far exceeds the level of actual dependence.

Performance-enhancing substances

55

Alongside the legal use of medicines prescribed by physicians and sold by pharmacists, a trend towards using therapeutic products for reasons not originally intended is becoming apparent: the consumption of substances in order to improve and adapt physical, sexual and mental performance. These forms of abuse are not new, but have taken on new dimensions in modern societies due to major advances in pharmacology and the marketing of pharmacological products. Potency-enhancing drugs, for example, are no longer taken solely in cases where there are medical indications of impotence, but are now taken by healthy young people as general way of enhancing performance and enjoying new experiences: the aim is no longer therapy, but optimisation.⁷¹

A further example is "doping". Doping has not only found its way into international top-class sport. The use of banned substances and the misuse of legal substances with the aim of achieving top performances or changing the shape of the body are also prevalent in amateur sport and

in the fitness market. The potential harm that these substances can do to a person's health is considerable. This applies in particular to anabolic steroids, which, according to a German study, are consumed in gyms, primarily by men, in high doses and without medical supervision.⁷²

The effects of selected psychoactive and performanceenhancing substances⁷³

Alcohol: causes relaxation, euphoria, lowering of inhibition, but may also increase aggression, and can bring about a higher tendency towards violence⁷⁴

Amphetamines: have a stimulant effect on the central nervous system (release of adrenalin, norepinephrine and dopamine), increase self-esteem, lower the aggression threshold, increase the ability to concentrate, and suppress fatigue

Caffeine: has a stimulant effect on the central nervous system, raises the pulse rate, and improves concentration

Methylphenidate (brand name in Switzerland: Ritalin): has a stimulant effect on the brain, improves attention span, increases concentration, reduces motor hyperactivity and impulsivity by enabling improved impulse control, increases heart rate and blood pressure, at the same time suppressing fatigue

Modafinil: suppresses fatigue, increases concentration; improves physical and mental performance

Nicotine: causes the release of chemical messengers and hormones in the brain. Once tolerated, it has a stimulant effect in low doses, while in higher doses it has a sedative effect, increases the attention span to the level of persons not dependent on nicotine,⁷⁵ suppresses anxiety, anger and aggression, helps relaxation, and reduces fatigue. It also causes a higher heart rate, higher blood pressure and various other effects

The debate surrounding the various methods of enhancing mental performance is growing and the issue is becoming increasingly controversial. However, at present no truly comprehensive data covering this field is available in the EU or in Switzerland. In the USA, there are indications that around 25 per cent of all students use medicines to enhance their performance and to function better. These drugs not only increase motivation but also attention span, concentration and self control. There is evidence of a similar use of medicines in Switzerland. In 1999, a fifth of interviewees admitted that they had also used medicines to enhance their performance in everyday life.⁷⁶ There is too little scientific knowledge at present of the health-related effects of this form of doping, using pharmaceuticals for unapproved indications ("off label use"). In particular, there is no reliable data on the long-term side effects. There is also need for a discussion of social effects that result from the increasingly fluid boundaries between therapy and optimisation. Experts assume that in the long-term there will be a large market, both legal and illegal, for "neuroenhancement" drugs.⁷⁷ The development of preparations for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease and dementia, for example, already points to this potential usage in respect of enhanced cognitive performance.⁷⁸

All these developments must be monitored closely as part of a forward-looking addiction policy.

Performance enhancement, smart drugs and doping

A survey in German gyms conducted in 1998 showed that 24 % of men had experience of misusing anabolic substances. 79

A survey carried out by research journal *Nature* of 1400 academics in 60 countries revealed that 20% had at some time taken pharmaceuticals in order to improve their ability to concentrate, and of these 25% had done it on average once a week, and a further 25% every day.⁸⁰

Some 5% of workers take pharmaceutical products to enhance their mental performance (DAK survey of 3000 workers aged between 20 and 50). Women tend to resort to mood-lifters such as anti-depressants, while men prefer drugs that increase their powers of concentration, like Ritalin. Around 75% of those questioned claimed to have taken the drugs for medical reasons, while the remainder admitted there was no medical necessity for seeking a boost. 17% of the interviewees admitted having taken drugs to enhance their mental abilities or to improve their mental state.⁸¹

The worldwide production of Ritalin quintupled between 1990 and 1997; in Switzerland, the quantity of Ritalin used between 1996 and 2000 rose from just under 14 kg to over 100 kg.⁸²

More than substances

Potential for addiction and harm of certain forms of behaviour

Studies and practical experience have shown that certain forms of behaviour, such as gambling, carry a risk of addiction and can also be harmful to health. In addition, behavioural and substance dependencies often exist alongside each other ("co-morbidity"). The related research is still in its infancy – but there appears to be a need to develop both preventive and therapeutic measures in this field. A coherent and future oriented addiction policy must include non-substance related addictions ("behavioural addictions", "behavioural dependencies").

The term "addiction" is used in everyday language not only for substance dependencies, but also for a wide variety of forms of behaviour that are regarded as excessive, out of control or abnormal (s. Chapter 1). Not every behaviour pattern of this type is a form of addiction, but such behaviour can be highly problematic and be a symptom of other disorders.⁸³

Criteria for behavioural dependencies

In its ICD-10,⁸⁴ the World Health Organisation sets out clearly defined diagnostic criteria for a dependency syndrome or traditional substance dependence (s. Chapter 1). In the foreground, there are three main characteristics of dependence: loss of control, physical dependence and social and health-related effects. In relation to behavioural dependencies, there is still a lack of scientific consensus on such criteria. To date, only "pathological gambling" has been clinically defined and recognised as dependence-type behaviour. However, even in this field, which has been the subject of research for a longer period, we now face entirely new challenges, due to the virtual world. Here there is a need for further clarification and research in the field of addiction.

Existing studies on internet habits show, however, that behavioural dependencies are characterised by specific patterns: an obsessive desire or strong pressure to behave in a certain way, limited control that may

58

verge on loss of control, development of increased tolerance, withdrawal symptoms, neglect of professional, educational or social obligations and the desire to continue the behaviour despite its negative effects. Based on these criteria, there is a trend to refer to "internet addiction" or "online addiction". In the field of nutrition and exercise, certain excessive forms of behaviour are comparable with substance-related addictions in their processes: behavioural dependencies trigger similar processes in the brain to substance addictions. In particular, the natural reward processes in the brain, such as the release of dopamine, intensify, both in the case of psychoactive substances and in the case of dependent forms of behaviour such as shopping or gambling addictions or an addiction to work (ergomania).⁸⁵

Estimates of the prevalence of behavioural dependencies

According to estimates, 5% of Swiss people are addicted to shopping, with women at 6% being twice as frequently affected as men at 3%. In addition, 33% of the population have a tendency towards uncontrolled buying behaviour.⁸⁶

In the USA and the German-speaking area, the number of sex addicts is estimated at between 3-6% of the population, with men being clearly more often affected than women (ratio of 4:1).⁸⁷

According to estimates, between 1 % and 2.3 % of Swiss people are addicted to the internet, and as many people are thought to be at risk of such addiction.⁸⁸

In 2007, 0.5 % of Swiss people between the ages of 18 and 98 were pathological gamblers, and a further 0.8 % had a problem with gambling. 89

59

The Report on the Challenge of Addiction aims to give consideration to nonsubstance related dependencies, both in relation to prevention and market regulation and to therapy and harm reduction. Initial research results indicate that behavioural dependencies can also have negative healthrelated and social effects, in the same way that dependence on psychoactive substances does. Problematic patterns of consumption also develop, with substance-related and non-substance related dependencies reinforcing each other. In the area of non-substance related dependencies, there are signs of a similar interaction between structural and behaviourrelated prevention, as there are for legal substance-related dependencies. Easy availability is an important factor. Significant global markets are now developing for online gambling, and they are pressing for recognition and liberalisation in order to become easily accessible. Accordingly, there is also a need here for various forms of regulation, including statutory measures such as legalisation, age limits and a system of taxation that aims to influence what is offered. Interestingly, in many countries, revenues from state monopolies in the gambling market are used for social projects that also serve to prevent addiction.



5 **Strategic Direction** of the Policy Framework for the Challenge of Addiction

Broadening the scope of addiction policy (s. Chapter 4) is only worthwhile if changes are also made to the way in which the policy is implemented. This requires a change to the strategies employed in Swiss addiction policy. The health policy goal is to reduce the disease burden or to keep it at a low level (s. Chapter 2). This is to be achieved through a combination of behaviour-related and structural prevention measures, supplemented where appropriate with harm reduction measures. It is also necessary to strengthen protective factors and to reduce harmful ones.

Here again, a public health approach makes systematic and evidencebased action possible: it includes measures that relate both to supply and demand. It also takes account of measures that are beneficial to health and that are applied before specific addiction-related policies take effect. Furthermore, it ensures the inclusion of other policy sectors that have an influence on addictive behaviour. On this basis, the *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* proposes three strategic directions under the headings *more than personal responsibility, more than youth protection,* and *more than health policy measures.* Here again, the use of the word "more" points to the expanded scope of the policy.

More than personal responsibility

Structural measures and the promotion of skills

Individual measures are important, but on their own they are not sufficient to reduce the burden of disease, as public health research has shown. A future oriented addiction policy therefore also strives to influence both demand and supply. If appropriate, it will also aim to achieve harm reduction. In addition, it will focus on the promotion of protective factors by creating supportive environments. People with a dependency are entitled to treatment and care – addiction is an illness, not a personal failing. Relatives, partners and children must also be able to count on receiving support. Children and adolescents have their own personal needs on their way to becoming adults; they must be protected against the abusive exploitation of these needs and desires by specifically targeted advertising and marketing measures.

Structural measures

There is an imbalance in much of the addiction policy debate. Problem patterns of consumption and their consequences – such as binge drinking, alcohol-related domestic violence, the harm caused to others by passive smoking or drug-related crime – are normally attributed by the general public and by politicians to individual (mis)conduct rather than to patterns of behaviour that have in part been structured by society. Indeed, the common approach is to point to the responsibilities of the immediate family - while less attention is paid to other factors, such as the influence of the marketing and sale of legal psychoactive substances. Rather than stressing the negative health-related, social and economic harm, the positive aspects of creating economic prosperity are emphasised. There is of course a certain logic to this: where there is consumption of addictive substances or addictive behaviour, there is always at least one supplier who stands to profit from it. This also applies in the case of compulsive gambling and increasingly to new internet or computerrelated behavioural dependencies. A future oriented addiction policy must therefore always look to devise measures that target both the consumers and the suppliers. Public health strategies in the field of addiction must therefore constantly act to influence both supply and demand.

In the debate on addiction, this gives rise to a conflict between individual and collective responsibility. This same conflict arises between the state's duty to protect its citizens' health and its duty to ensure economic freedom. In protecting economic freedom, the state permits products that are harmful to health to be sold in the market. In some cases it even encourages the production of these products by granting subsidies. At the same time, the state pursues an active health policy in order to protect the common good, which is aimed at preventing the consumption of the self-same

Where there is the consumption of addictive substances or addictive behaviour, at least one supplier always stands to profit from it



products (as in the case of smoking) or the consequential harm that they cause (as in the case of alcohol). On the one hand, this dynamic sees the individual being granted a high degree of freedom of choice, in accordance with the basic requirements of any democratic system; on the other, disregard is shown for the fact that the decision-making abilities of individuals vary considerably and that the supply structures are of course tailored towards encouraging consumption.

CHF 16 million spent on the tobacco control – CHF 16 million spent on the domestic cultivation of tobacco

In 2008, the fund for preventing smoking benefited to the tune of just under CHF 16 million from revenues from sales of cigarettes. This money financed prevention measures designed to stop people from starting to consume tobacco products, to help people stop smoking and to protect the public from the risks of passive smoking. In the same year, however, a similar sum of just under CHF 16 million in revenue from cigarette sales was used to promote the cultivation of tobacco in Switzerland, providing financial support to the 350 or so farms in Switzerland that grow tobacco.⁹⁰

When a person is suffering from a medical condition, a similar conflict emerges between allocating the blame to the individual and making access to treatment available on a non-discriminatory basis. This conflict is especially relevant to the discussion around health insurance premiums and the reimbursement of medical costs. If we look beyond the individual case, the question arises of the overall costs to society.

The social costs of the consumption of addictive substances and compulsive gambling

Tobacco consumption each year gives rise to social costs of CHF 10 billion. 12% of these costs are direct costs (health care, police and court proceedings), while 38% are indirect costs (invalidity benefits, absence from work), and 50% are intangible costs (loss of quality of life for those concerned and others).

Every year, alcohol consumption brings social costs of CHF 6.5 billion. Of these 11 % are direct costs, 23 % indirect and 66 % intangible.

The consumption of illegal drugs each year brings social costs of CHF 4.1 billion francs. 34% of these costs are direct, while 56% are indirect and 10% intangible.⁹¹

Gambling in Swiss casinos gives rise to annual social costs of CHF 70 million (direct and indirect, not including intangible costs), although it is estimated that only 20% of problem or pathological gamblers play in casinos.⁹²

In a liberal society, it is neither possible nor desirable for every risk to be eliminated. The right of citizens to organise their lives as they wish has to be respected, even if this means that some do harm to themselves. And the interests of the economy must be recognised. But when the health of the population is put at risk, a liberal and social state must act, even if this means imposing limits. This form of intervention is regarded as far more acceptable in transport policy or accident prevention, for example, than in addiction policy. But the pragmatic HIV/AIDS policy pursued in Switzerland, and measures like the heroin prescription programme are good examples that show public health initiatives in controversial areas can give impetus to a social learning process and contribute to a de-emphasis of ideological aspects.

The debate over personal responsibility and its political and ethical dimensions relates not only to addiction policy, but to all forms of prevention and health promotion. The simple fact is that the issue of personal responsibility in relation to addiction policy is particularly apparent. Freedom in society is too readily equated with the freedom of choice enjoyed by consumers. In this way, access to alcohol around the clock or the right

No one person alone can ensure their own good health

67

to consume it in public places is transfigured into a fundamental right, while in fact it primarily relates to an increase in options for consumption and availability. This is in line with the reality that in the current healthpolicy debate, freedom is normally defined in terms of contractual, commercial or economic freedom, which has to be maintained or even extended in every respect.

Encouraging health literacy

The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* therefore proposes to depart from a very one-sided concept of personal responsibility. In society, in relation to health, the aim must always be to achieve *shared responsibility*. No one person alone can ensure their own good health. It requires a broad range of key skills, as concluded by the OECD in its *International Adult Literacy Survey*.⁹³ The ability of the individual to make sound health-related decisions in everyday life, known as health literacy, is therefore gaining considerably in importance. This applies to skills required in the context of the home, in society more broadly, in the workplace, in the health system and in the political debate. Society and politicians should consistently encourage the abilities of the public to exercise shared responsibility in relation to health. Policy should move beyond the confines of health policy in order to encourage action in other political sectors as a means of supporting responsible health-related behaviour through structural measures.

From a public health point of view, action is needed that goes beyond "personal responsibility" in various ways that complement each other, as the health of an individual is an issue that also affects society as a whole. Each individual's health literacy must therefore be complemented by a general health awareness in society:

> Strategic Direction he Challenge of Addiction

In structural prevention:

- What is needed is a social environment that makes it easier for people to engage in behaviours that are positive for their health. Other responsible social players must increasingly live up to their responsibility to the common good. This is especially pertinent in relation to compliance with legal requirements, such as the regulations on selling alcohol to minors. However, this responsibility must go beyond simple compliance with legal regulations, as is exemplified by measures to control fans at football matches. Some projects also attempt to appeal to fathers as the key male role models and thus to make inroads into family structures.
- Private sector players also have numerous opportunities to shoulder responsibility. These include, for example, voluntary product labelling, quality assurance, more restrained advertising and sponsorship measures or limits on supply. Unfortunately, in relation to addiction, experiences with the self-regulation of the private sector are not encouraging. For various suppliers, such as those in the tobacco industry, their efforts are a sham. Nevertheless, harm reduction can be pursued directly, as is the case in New Zealand, where bar owners have taken on the role of guarantors and make sure that persons under the influence of alcohol do not drive. A further example is the organisation of schemes for driving people home when they have been drinking. In this way, the social strategy of arranging for designated drivers in the USA has brought about a change in behaviour that reduces the harm done by alcohol consumption.

In behaviour-related prevention:

 People need personal resources to support what they do for their health. More of these resources must be made available. This is taken into account in behaviour-related prevention based on the life skills model, which encourages the development of personal responsibility.⁹⁴ International effectiveness studies have shown life skills training programmes to be a successful approach to behaviour-related prevention.⁹⁵ These programmes are also conducted under the headings of risk literacy and health literacy: in addition to the acquisition of general life

skills, it is also important to develop a critical approach and attitude towards using psychoactive substances and new media such as the internet. Such models can increasingly be offered as unspecific addiction prevention and early intervention programmes in schools and youth facilities, in associations and organisations.⁹⁶ In certain Swiss cantons, this has already been done and this approach should therefore be extended and regularly evaluated.

Training in life skills is especially useful in that it can reach those pupils who are not well integrated into day-to-day school life and who do not abide by the rules or stay within the limits. A survey of teaching staff involved in one programme of this type showed that 62 per cent of young people who have attended the course demonstrate a positive change in behaviour.⁹⁷ A nationwide investment in these skills-promoting prevention programmes would also be welcome in Switzerland. But it should be noted that there has been a debate about this type of programme for quite some time: it relates to the issue of whether the programme should primarily address "use prevention" (prevention of consumption) or "abuse prevention" (prevention of problematic consumption). 98 In the course of the Swiss debate, which recognises the importance of harm reduction in relation to the use of illegal drugs and alcohol, it must be assumed that both approaches will be covered and will prove useful. The epidemiological data, however, indicate clearly that there is a need to focus on preventive education in primary school. The creation of the required general conditions and the provision of the resources that are needed is a political issue.

More than youth protection

Appropriate approaches for different sections of society

Youth protection is also considered important and beyond dispute from a public health standpoint: the data indicates that problematic substance use has especially serious effects at this stage of life. The same may also be plausibly assumed in relation to behavioural dependencies. The strong focus on youth protection, has however, in view of the burden of disease, led to too narrow a strategic outlook for a future oriented addiction policy. This is particularly due to the major demographic changes that are underway.

Data indicates that many patterns of problematic substance consumption originate in childhood or adolescence and that, depending on the substance concerned, they may have particularly serious effects in this phase of life.⁹⁹ In the case of tobacco, for example, over 80 per cent of adult smokers were already dependent before they had reached the age of 20.100 Therefore a priority goal of any addiction policy must be to protect children and young people. But no policy can simply be allowed to stop there - a policy primarily directed towards young people does not tackle the health challenge in its entirety. In addition, many of the youth protection measures that are needed would already be covered if the consumption and the supply of substances were regulated in accordance with public health requirements. This applies for example in the case of smoking bans in public places. Due to the easy availability of many legal and illegal substances - even for young people - the consistent implementation of the existing regulations is not the only decisive factor in protecting young people. Harm reduction measures, such as those employed at festivals and other events, together with integrated youth development programmes are also important as preventive measures. Addiction policy must not define young people per se as a problem group and must understand their special characteristics – the desire to take risks and to overstep the limits is one of the defining features of this age group.
The focus on young people is a too narrowlydefined objective for strategic measures

/1

The current focus on young people, especially in relation to problematic alcohol consumption, is a too narrowly-defined objective for future strategic measures. The statistical data indicates that the burden on society caused by problematic consumption among adults is far more severe than that caused by consumption by adolescents (for example in relation to healthcare costs and accidents). In addition, the focus on young people often lacks credibility, as the proposed measures in most cases are directed at the young consumers and not at the supply structures, and nor do they pay regard to adults in their capacity as role models: for young people, the credibility of measures is very important. For example, there is far more discussion about young people who engage in botellones (a form of binge drinking in public places) than of the problems arising from alcohol consumption that takes place at adult events. The youth focus disregards the fact that harmful consumption of alcohol and riskcarrying alcohol-related behaviour is found everywhere in society. A differentiated addiction policy will therefore be aimed at a wide variety of groups of consumers and affected persons. The measures must be tailored to different age groups, social classes, genders and other relevant social criteria if they are to be successful.

Measures related to age and addiction

The figures for Switzerland show that 29 per cent of 65–74 year-olds consume alcohol every day, that almost 20 per cent of persons over 74 years of age take analgesics, soporifics and sedatives, and that 20 per cent of the 55–65 year-olds smoke.¹⁰¹ The changes in demographics have also led – and not only in Switzerland – to the growth of an older clientele in support centres for people with alcohol and drug-related problems. Among older people, addiction problems are also commonly associated with social problems, although in most cases these are less visible than in the case of young people. Usually they take place behind the closed doors of their homes.¹⁰² Personal difficulties and life changes (retirement, the deaths of relatives and friends, loss of independence) lead to an increased risk, with the abuse of alcohol and of various types of medicines being the main problem areas.¹⁰³ Here too there are considerable economic and social costs: accidents – such as falls due to substance abuse – and the resultant premature admission to a nursing home not only burden the healthcare system, but also have a highly detrimental effect on the independence and quality of life of the persons concerned. The issue of systems-induced (iatrogenic) addictive behaviour must also be discussed. Economic considerations combined with a lack of suitably trained staff may contribute to the pressure to dispense sedatives.¹⁰⁴

Different age groups - different patterns of consumption

In 2007, the age group with the highest percentage of smokers at around 37% was the 25–34 year-olds, while almost 34% of 15–24 year-olds also smoked. The tendency is for the percentage of smokers to fall with age. While 31% of 45–54 year-olds smoke, the level falls to 25% among 55–64 year-olds and 17% among 65–74 year-olds. The lowest number of smokers is found among the over 75 year-old age group, at 8%.¹⁰⁵

15–24 year-olds are the most frequent high-risk binge drinkers (20.6%). This form of consumption declines steadily as people grow older. On the other hand, although abstinence and low-risk consumption increase as people grow older, so does chronic high-risk consumption.¹⁰⁶

The consumption of medicines increases drastically with age: whereas only 3.3 % of the 25–34 year-old women (and 3.2 % of men) had taken analgesics every day in the seven days before questioning, in the case of the 45–54 year-old women this figure has already risen to 7.0 % (men: 4.7 %) and in the case of over 75 year-olds, it is 16.9 % (men: 7.2 %). The statistics on the use of soporifics are similar.¹⁰⁷

The numbers of people affected by a shopping addiction decline gradually with age. $^{\rm 108}$

Measures in relation to socially disadvantaged groups

Many illnesses and health disorders occur more frequently in the socially disadvantaged sections of society, in some cases with far-reaching consequences for the quality of life of the persons concerned and of their families. The socio-economic class to which a person belongs is particularly significant.¹⁰⁹ Clear social differences are visible, for example, in the German figures on tobacco smoking: socially disadvantaged children and young people are not only more likely to smoke, they also begin at an earlier age.¹¹⁰ Explanatory models relate to the risk environment and the accumulation of problem situations, such as the wide diversity of psychosocial problems and aggravating environmental factors that these children and young people are exposed to. In relation to alcohol too, the frequency of risky patterns of consumption – such as binge drinking – is significantly higher among school pupils in lower academic ability groups than among pupils studying for the university entrance certificate. The same applies to the consumption of cannabis. At particularly high risk are young unemployed men. Furthermore, according to the latest epidemiological studies, the mental health of young people in all social classes has deteriorated.¹¹¹ The experience of soft factors such as friendship, relationships, emotional attachments, love, warmth and time is a further factor that determines whether young people will tend to use drugs. Social work measures for young people that help them to integrate and also address their emotional needs are therefore of great importance.

Measures in relation to people with an immigrant background

Studies on the prevention of substance addiction among immigrants indicate where useful measures should be taken. In particular, they emphasise that in many immigrant groups there is little or no awareness of the risk that legal substances (tobacco, alcohol, medicines) pose. The term "addiction" is almost exclusively understood as relating to the consumption of illegal substances (e.g. heroin, cocaine). Information, early recognition and treatment in good time are made more difficult because many families are not prepared to talk openly about a drug related problem, but

/ 3

instead try to solve it within the family. The situation is exacerbated by language and more general integration problems. There is inadequate knowledge of what support is available, and in many cases there is a lack of understanding of how the Swiss health system works. Experiences at local (communal) level in Switzerland show that it is especially important to be able to gain access to women and mothers and to explain the problems of addiction to them.¹¹² These types of programmes must be tailored to the realities of the lives of the groups of persons concerned.

Measures in relation to gender-specific differences

Women and men still differ considerably when it comes to social and health-related matters, in the way they use substances, and in relation to behavioural dependencies. Generally speaking, there are higher rates of problematic substance use among men, while women normally have a higher consumption rate for various types of medication. In several countries, more girls smoke than boys.¹¹³ The reasons for consuming addictive substances also differ between women and men. For women, they often relate to excessive role expectations and the burden of dealing with many different responsibilities, but regular experiences of violence and feelings of helplessness can also be a cause. Among men, the reasons are often connected to the pressure to succeed at work and in their personal lives, or with the inability to cope with family obligations, such as fatherhood. To an increasing extent, restrictive and over-demanding role expectations and male stereotypes are also considered important factors. For both men and women, a variety of gender-specific realities, experiences, resources and needs must be taken into account.

Special consideration must also be given to the fact that more women live with men who have an addiction problem than vice-versa (in Germany, the ratio is around 3:1). For this reason, they often have to share the burden and suffer the consequences of their partner's addiction (such as debts, physical violence, and isolation). In most cases, women stay in a



relationship with a partner who has an addiction for much longer than men would in the same situation.¹¹⁴ Special problems also arise in the event of pregnancies, as the consumption of various substances can be harmful to the child. In most programmes, far too little account is taken of the gender-specific aspects – this needs to be changed.

The influence of the socio-economic status and of gender

Immigrants from the former Yugoslavia, Portugal, Kosovo, Turkey and Sri Lanka are far more likely to consume soporifics, analgesics or sedatives on a daily basis than immigrants from Italy, Germany, Austria or France. The latter are virtually identical to the Swiss in their consumption patterns for medicines.¹¹⁵

20 % of men consume alcohol every day, a substantially larger percentage than women (9 %). $^{\rm 116}$

A person's own assessment of their state of health shows a positive correlation with the education they have received: 72% of people with a basic school leaving certificate regard their state of health as good to very good, while in the case of persons with an upper secondary school certificate the level is 88%, and for those with a tertiary level certificate, it is 93%.¹¹⁷

Women, and older and less well-educated people more frequently suffer from a chronic disease or a chronic health-related problem: 26% of men and 28% of women are affected. Whereas among 15–24 year olds, 14% are affected, in the case of people who are 75 or over, the figure is 48%. While 26% of people with a tertiary level certificate suffer from a chronic disease, two thirds of those with a basic school leaving certificate are similarly afflicted, a considerably higher proportion.¹¹⁸

/5

Conclusions

The *Report on the Challenge of Addiction* therefore proposes to focus on the special protection needs, protection requirements and risks in relation to a variety of age groups and cohorts combined with socio-economic and socio-cultural criteria, without discriminating against the persons concerned. The various forms of behaviour and addiction and the distinct patterns of consumption of specific groups must be tackled by a series of tailored addiction policy measures. In addition, the supply structures must be analysed and presented in a transparent way – particularly in relation to the factors encouraging consumption. The task will be made easier by adopting a procedure that includes the persons affected.

Addiction policy has to pay special attention to the risks affecting children and young adults, without labelling them as a problem group per se. This applies not only in the case of illegal substances, but also for the access to, the supply and the advertising of legal products (such as alcohol and tobacco) and increasingly also to the virtual world.

For all groups, it is important to guarantee access to programmes for health promotion, prevention, early diagnosis, therapy and if applicable harm reduction, without attributing blame. This is a key requirement for an addiction policy based on a public health approach, even if it requires the provision of additional financial resources.

Lastly a future oriented addiction policy will also attempt to bring about a change in social norms. The aim, for example, is to make it the social norm not to smoke, or to encourage new forms of behaviour when drinking alcohol. Although educational campaigns contribute to this, the most important element will be structural measures relating to society as a whole. Thus, for example, the lifting of the ban on the television advertising of wine and beer gives the wrong health policy signal. Such signals reduce the credibility of other prevention measures.

Failure to act politically can constitute addiction policy by default

More than health policy measures

The need for an inter-sectoral addiction policy

In order to attain its health goals, a future oriented addiction policy must incorporate other policy sectors and encourage collaboration between the various federal levels. It must be prepared for a broadening of scope (s. Chapter 4) and it must strive for a strategic merger of the policies on addiction, which so far have been kept separate. Additional stakeholders such as civil society and businesses should likewise be enlisted in the efforts when it is appropriate to do so.

Addiction policy is firmly established in the health sector, which is where it should be centred. Notwithstanding this, critical components of addiction policy are located in other policy sectors, including price and taxation policy, excise and customs tariffs, road safety legislation, restrictions on access and sales, and in measures designed to influence behaviour. Measures such as these are only rarely taken with any direct influence on the part of those responsible for health. Failure to act politically, though, can constitute addiction policy by default. The close connection between patterns of consumption and the structuring of supply makes it clear that an addiction policy must always find the most effective interplay between public education and the exertion of influence on production, supply and consumption. In a society offering multiple consumption options, addiction policy must attach greater importance to precisely those measures that have a bearing on supply; this is the only way of making the healthier choice into the more attractive, cheaper and simpler option. Today it is mostly the opposite, especially in the case of alcohol. In the policy on alcohol, there is still a reluctance to apply in a consistent manner the lessons learned from tobacco policy, where price is recognised to be one of the most important factors causing a reduction in consumption. Only slowly, and on account of a marked increase in the availability of low-price beer, have we witnessed the emergence of a similar discussion on alcohol. In the meantime, arguments based on health policy and on the grounds of protecting young people have been advanced for fixing a minimum price for beer. This is designed to counter the erosion of prices brought about by price wars between the breweries and the discount stores.

The other policy sectors should have an interest in addiction policy, because the major part of the costs arising from problematic patterns of consumption is reflected not only in health expenditures, but also in the social costs suffered by families, in economic costs incurred by businesses and in expenditure for public safety. Figure 3 uses the example of alcohol consumption in order to show the areas that may have to incur costs. In a similar way the consumption of other substances or certain behaviours have cost implications in the four areas of "family/social network", "health system", "workplace" and "crime/public order", even though the costs here may differ in their nature and severity.

From the public health perspective, it is essential to have a coordinated and balanced approach between individual measures and the various policy fields illustrated here. *Successful public health measures in the area of addiction rely on the right mix of interventions combined with a coordinated approach*. These potential interventions encompass measures in health and social policy which aim to reduce supply and demand, as well as market regulation, and criminal sanctions and law enforcement; they also comprise supportive social, educational and family policies, including social reintegration. They are complemented by treatment and harm reduction. Depending on the substance, behaviour or consumer group, they will have to be adapted in different ways. In the European discussion, this is known as a "balanced approach").¹²⁰

Figure 3

Possible effects of the consumption of alcohol on the health system, the workplace, crime and public order, and on families and the social network.¹²²

Family/Social network	Healthcare system
Cost to the family and the social network	Cost to the health-care system
Number of children who are disadvantaged due to having parents with alcohol problems Number of drinkers in public	Deaths due to acute incidents related to alcohol consumption Deaths due to chronic alcohol dependency
Alcohol-re	lated harm
Absences from work due to ill-health Absences from work due to reduced working hours	Arrests due to drunkenness and unruly behaviour Victims of alcohol-related domestic violence Deaths due to road accidents
Cost of working days lost Costs of absences from work Cost of absences from work due to bereavement	Social costs of alcohol related crime Costs of drink-driving Costs of prosecution and sentences
Workplace	Crime/Public order

79

Strategic Direction
The Challenge of Addiction

Regulation: From the public health perspective, it is the disease burden that is the key criterion for action. A future oriented addiction policy will have to propose different mechanisms for regulation, depending on a substance's potential for harm or with regard to specific areas of behavioural addictions. Regulation can range from shaping the conditions prevalent in the legal market, bolstered by the threat of fines in the case of violations, to the comprehensive regulation of production, supply and consumption, which can be reinforced by the threat of custodial sentences for violations by suppliers. Even in the case of very dangerous substances, the refusal to allow a legal market can be justified only when such a refusal contributes efficiently to the protection of minors. That is possible only when a major reduction in supply is feasible; if it is not, it must be asked whether legal market regulation might not better protect young people from the harmful consumption of substances that are currently illegal.

Law enforcement: Depending on a substance's potential for causing harm, addiction policy will also require policing and law enforcement measures; no addiction policy can work without measures for enforcement, for even market regulation (and not only a ban on production, supply and consumption) has to be buttressed by criminal provisions and sanctions. And these must moreover be aimed not only at consumers, but also at distributors and manufacturers.

Supportive measures: It is also crucial to take into account aspects of social, educational and family policy as well as to provide for measures in the working environment or the leisure sphere, for aggravating and protective factors are unequally distributed in society. Children and young people from the lower socio-economic levels are affected more severely by harmful factors than are those from the higher strata.¹²¹ The linking of structural measures, together with the strengthening of social resources for health and protective factors at the family and local level, must occupy a more powerful central position in the efforts to improve addiction policy. This is especially the case with respect to school and leisure policy as well as the individuals' responsibility for their own health. In order

An effective future addiction policy will place the accent on evidence and effectiveness

to achieve this, the skills and competencies of the stakeholders that are essential to implementing a coordinated and integrated policy must be improved.¹²² At a local level, this can mean the training of staff in the health and social services departments, in schools, in local authorities, and in the police.

Outlook

The public health debate on addiction policy is a political debate, which is often adversarial as the stakeholders support different models of society. Today many social problems are considered from a health perspective. This enables an evidence-based discussion in relation to the disease burden. But on the other hand, it leads to an increasing politicisation of the discussion on public health measures. Among the diverse influences bearing on addiction policy, the following are the most prevalent: public opinion, political Ideology, theoretical concepts, experience and empiricism, science and evidence, and effectiveness.¹²³ A future oriented addiction policy will place the accent on evidence and effectiveness.

Social and demographic change and changing patterns of consumption have led to manufacturers and service providers adopting a defensive position as they consider their sales to be increasingly threatened by state regulation. They argue against a "nanny state" that uses legal instruments which increasingly intrude into the private lives of its citizens. This poses difficulties for the shaping of a future oriented addiction policy, even though changed (healthier) consumption patterns could provide opportunities for entrepreneurial action. The sales and consumption of alcohol-free beer, for example, have seen substantial increases globally. In the addiction policy discussion therefore, there must always be equal emphasis on the responsibility of manufacturers and suppliers, and not only on the personal responsibility of individual consumers.

Addiction policy must be pragmatic and realistic and geared to the realities of life. Its priority goal is an improvement of public health through an effective and measurable reduction of the *problematic consumption* of psychoactive substances and through forward looking action in relation to behaviours *with potential for addiction*. The resultant reduction in the disease burden and social problems will lead to a decrease in costs not only for the health sector but also for other political and social sectors.

At European level, we are also witnessing a movement towards integrated and coherent addiction policies. The identifying features for this are a focus on evidence, the support of differentiated interventions and decriminalisation, all with the aim of improving health. It would be a welcome move if political decision-makers distanced themselves from simplistic notions about addiction policy. We hope that the guiding principles for a future oriented policy approach offered in this Report will contribute to this.



6 The Challenge of Addiction:

A Framework for a Future Oriented Policy



This policy framework for addressing the challenge of addiction has a new understanding of addiction policy as its point of departure. It recommends that such a policy should consider *broadening its scope* as well as *changing its strategic focus and direction*. The policy framework for addressing the challenge of addiction considers the challenge to be a social phenomenon that must be addressed by taking a coherent and comprehensive approach. The framework encompasses not only psychoactive substances but also addresses potentially addictive behaviours not related to substances, and it is based on a *public health approach*. Guidelines for proceeding in accordance with this approach include the *prevention of problematic consumption and problematic behaviours* as well as the *reduction of the harmful effects on health and the impact they have*, both on the individual and his or her environment, and on society.

Principle 1 A coherent policy

Through a *public health approach*, Switzerland will pursue a *coherent policy* in relation to the *harmful and risky use* of psychoactive substances and potentially addictive behaviours.

Principle 2 Objective determined by potential harm and the disease burden

Action arising from addiction policy in Switzerland will be shaped and determined by the *potential harm and the burden of disease* caused by substances or potentially addictive behaviours affecting the individual, his or her environment and society. Such an approach thus distances itself from a simplistic distinction between legal and illegal substances and an exclusive emphasis on dependence.

Principle 3 Broader scope

Swiss addiction policy will focus not only on alcohol, tobacco and illegal drugs, but will also include *medicines, addictions not related to substances* and *products aimed at physical and mental enhancement*. The specific characteristics of the different types of addiction will need to be recognised by the policy.

Principle 4 Securing treatment and care

Addiction is an illness. People afflicted by problematic consumption, problem behaviour or dependence have a right to receive treatment and care. Their family members, partners and children are also entitled to support. There must also be access to *measures for early diagnosis and consultation, support in achieving withdrawal and being reintegrated into society.* The aim is to create and consolidate an integrated approach to services.

Principle 5 Harm reduction

Effective harm reduction measures relate to consumers and their environment. *They are provided where they constitute an option from a public health perspective.* In relation to tobacco, the current evidence does not support harm reduction measures.

Principle 6 Prevention through structural measures

Addiction policy in Switzerland will put the emphasis on structural measures aimed at environments, with the objective of making the healthier choice the attractive option. To achieve this, *different policy sectors will increasingly be involved in addiction policy measures*.

Principle 7 Obligations for producers, distributors and retailers

Producers, distributors and retailers of products with potential for harm or addiction will be obliged to contribute through *legal measures specifically designed to control supply and demand.* This applies at all federal levels in Switzerland.

Principle 8 Differentiated approach to target groups

The protection of young people will continue to be an important area of addiction policy and will require consistent implementation. Addiction policy instruments must, however, be broadly directed at all *target groups*. Special attention must be paid to ensuring that no one should be discriminated against on the grounds of *social inequality or social diversity*. In addition, *health literacy* should be encouraged through specific training programmes aimed at prevention and early intervention.

Principle 9 Civil society

87

Responsible *societal actors,* such as sports and trade associations or professional organisations, need to become increasingly active, especially in prevention and harm reduction.

Principle 10 Research, training and monitoring/evaluation

Switzerland will increase its commitment to *addiction research* and to the *training of the workforce*. To this end, an efficient and integrated *system of addiction monitoring* will be developed reflecting the approach of the model put forward in this policy framework. The Federal Council should initiate a *national research project into addiction*. Addiction research will be further consolidated at university level through the inclusion of medicine and psychiatry.

Outlook

The continuation of process relating to the challenge of addiction

The delegates of the three federal Commissions on addiction, the FCAI, FCDI, and FCTC, who participated in this Report *request the Federal Office of Public Health (FOPH)*, following the publication of the present document, *to initiate and implement a targeted action plan*.

The priorities of this action plan will be the

- dissemination,
- consolidation and
- integration and mainstreaming

of the essence of the present Report and its policy framework.

The *dissemination* of the content will provide information to broader groups in society and serve to stimulate discussion of the points raised. The Report can thus serve as a reference paper for stakeholders at all federal levels and in specialist and social organisations. By disseminating the Report in this way, the FOPH will commit itself to ensuring the consideration of the policy framework in policy formulation as well as in current discussions relevant to addiction policy.

In tandem with its dissemination, the *consolidation* of the Report's findings will define the further need for action and launch appropriate subprocesses. It will consistently take account of the *expansion of the scope of the policy under the headings of "more than dependence", "more than legal status", and "more than substances"*. This means that a greater degree of strategic collaboration and exchange will be encouraged in the areas of tobacco, alcohol and drugs. At the same time the basis will be created for integrating the challenges of non-substance related addictions and enhancement into the discourse on addiction.

The strategic expansion of "more than personal responsibility", "more than protection of youth", "more than health policy measures" should be increasingly *integrated and mainstreamed* in political decisions that have an impact on the harmful consumption of substances and non-substance related addictions, as well as on the supply of products and services. In this context various methods of market regulation are of high significance.

Acknowledgements

The steering group and project management wish to thank the following persons for the valuable expertise they provided:

- Dr. iur. Thomas Hansjakob, Chief Public Prosecutor, Canton of St. Gallen
- Dr. Margret Rihs-Middel, Executive Board of FERARIHS
- Prof. Dr. phil., dipl. biol. Christoph Rehmann-Sutter, former President of the National Advisory Commission on Biomedical Ethics, Professor of Theory and Ethics in the Bioscience, University of Lübeck
- Prof. Dr. rer. pol. Rolf Rosenbrock, Head of the Research Group on Public Health, Social Science Research Center, Berlin
- Prof. Dr. oec. HSG Tilman Slembeck, Zurich University of Applied Sciences and University of St. Gallen
- Prof. Dr. med. Michael Soyka, Medical Director, Privatklinik Meiringen
- PD Dr. med. Rudolf Stohler, Head of the Research Group on Substance Use Disorders, Clinic for General and Social Psychiatry, University of Zurich
- a.o. Prof. Dr. Beate Wimmer-Puchinger, representing the Vienna women's health group
- Frank Zobel, Drug policy analyst and Scientific writer, European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA), Lisbon

The project management would also like to thank Professor Ann M Roche, Director, National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction, Flinders University, Adelaide, South Australia, for her support in finalising the English version of this document.

The above-named persons accept no responsibility for the content of this Report and the policy framework.



Endnotes and references

- 1 NIDA, National Institute on Drug Abuse (2008): *Drugs, Brains, and Behavior.* The Science of Addiction. National Institute on Drug Abuse.
- 2 Grüsser, Sabine und Carolin Thalemann (2006): *Verhaltenssucht. Diagnostik, Therapie, Forschung.* Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 3 FCDI, Federal Commission for Drug Issues (2006): *Von der Politik der illegalen Drogen zur Politik der psychoaktiven Substanzen*. Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 4 FCDI, Federal Commission for Drug Issues (2006): *Von der Politik der illegalen Drogen zur Politik der psychoaktiven Substanzen*. Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 5 FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2008): *Nationales Programm Alkohol* 2008–2012. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.
- 6 FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2008): *Nationales Programm Tabak* 2008–2012. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.
- 7 FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health: *Die Drogenpolitik der Schweiz. Drittes Massnahmenpaket des Bundes zur Verminderung der Drogenprobleme (MaPaDro III)* 2006–2011. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.
- 8 Popular vote of 30 November 2008 on the amendment of the Narcotics Act.
- 9 See in particular: FCDI, Federal Commission for Drug Issues (2006):
 Von der Politik der illegalen Drogen zur Politik der psychoaktiven Substanzen.
 Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 10 The same indications apply in Switzerland and have already been assumed in advance of an increase in taxation. See University of Zurich (2004): Alcopops und die Auswirkungen der Sondersteuer auf das Konsumverhalten. http://www.isu.uzh.ch/ marketing/forschung/studien/Medieninformation.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 11 Schmidt, Bettina und Klaus Hurrelmann (Ed.)(2000): *Präventive Sucht- und Drogenpolitik*. Ein Handbuch. Opladen: Leske + Budrich.
- 12 Public Health Schweiz (2009): *Public Health*. http://www.sgpg.ch/logicio/pmws/ indexDOM.php?client_id=publichealth&page_id=home, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 13 EMCDDA, European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (2007): Annual Report 2006: Selected Issue 1: European Drug Policies: extended beyond illicit drugs? http://issues06.emcdda.europa.eu/en/page003-en.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 14 Spinatsch, Markus (2004): *Eine neue Suchtpolitik für die Schweiz? Bericht zu Handen des Bundesamtes für Gesundheit*. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.
- 15 Federal Gazette (2009): Botschaft zum Bundesgesetz über Prävention und Gesundheitsförderung (Präventionsgesetz, PrävG) vom 30. September 2009, S. 7071-7188.
- 16 Dahlgren, Göran und Margaret Whitehead (2007): *European strategies for tackling social inequities in health: Levelling up Part 2.* Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- 17 Rosenbrock, Rolf und Claus Michel (2007): *Primäre Prävention. Bausteine für eine systematische Gesundheitsförderung.* Berlin: Medizinisch Wissenschaftliche Verlagsgesellschaft OHG.
- 18 WHO, World Health Organisation (1986): Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion. http://www.euro.who.int/AboutWHO/Policy/20010827_2, consulted on 11.02.2010.

- 19 Kickbusch, Ilona (2006): *Die Gesundheitsgesellschaft*. Gamburg: Verlag Gesundheitsförderung.
- 20 See Greenfield, Susan (2004): Tomorrow's People. How 21st-Century Technology is Changing the Way We Think and Feel. London: Penguin Books and Bauman, Zygmunt (2003): Flüchtige Moderne. Frankfurt a.M.: Suhrkamp.
- 21 Offer, Avner (2006): *The Challenge of Affluence: Self-Control and Well-Being in the United States and Britain since 1950.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 22 FDJP, Federal Department of Justice and Police (2009): Verbot von Internetglücksspielen im Spielbankenbereich wird gelockert. http://www.esbk.admin.ch/esbk/ de/home/dokumentation/medienmitteilungen/2009/ref_2009-04-220.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 23 NZZ am Sonntag of 26 July 2009: Kleinläden sind die Gewinner der Krise.
- 24 Offer, Avner (2006): *The Challenge of Affluence: Self-Control and Well-Being in the United States and Britain since 1950.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 25 Commission on Social Determinants of Health (2008): *Closing the Gap in a Generation. Health Equity Through Action on the Social Determinants of Health.* Genf: WHO.
- 26 Greenfield, Susan (2004): *Tomorrow's People. How 21st-Century Technology is Changing the Way We Think and Feel*. London: Penguin Books.
- 27 See also: Ramaciotti, Daniel and Julien Perriard (2003): *Die Kosten des Stresses in der Schweiz*. Bern: State Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO).
- 28 FSO, Federal Statistical Office (2009): Schweizerische Gesundheitsbefragung. Neuchâtel: Federal Statistical Office. http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/ index/themen/14/02/02/key/01.html, consulted on 17.08.2009.
- 29 Soyka, Michael (2009): *Neuro-Enhancement aus suchtmedizinischer Sicht*. Der Nervenarzt Vol. 80, No. 7: 837-839.
- 30 See for example: Crano, William und Michael Burgoon (Ed.) (2002): *Mass Media and Drug Prevention: Classic and Conpacerary Theories and Research*. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates and the works of the Center on Media and Child Health (2009): Substance Use. http://cmch.typepad.com/cmch/, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 31 Greenfield, Susan (2004): *Tomorrow's People. How 21st-Century Technology is Changing the Way We Think and Feel*. London: Penguin Books.
- 32 Grüsser, Sabine und Ralf Thalemann (2006): *Computerspielsüchtig*? Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 33 The situation in Switzerland is similar. See Swissmedic (2010): Ungebrochener Trend: Illegale Arzneimittel kommen vermehrt in die Schweiz. http://www.news.admin.ch/message/index.html?lang=de&msg-id=31565, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 34 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2008): Süchtig nach Onlinespielen und Chats. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/de/ fuer-medienschaffende/pressemeldungen/browse/3/article/ suechtig-nach-onlinespielen-und-chats/?tx_ttnews[backPid]=93&cHash= 985b15ca101969dce5d8c3162e65fffa, consulted on 11.02.2010.

71

Endnotes and references The Challenge of Addiction

- 35 Federal Constitution of the Swiss Confederation of 18 April 1999 (SR 101).
- 36 Federal Act of 21 June 1932 über die gebrannten Wasser (Alcohol Act) (SR 680).
- 37 Federal Act of 9 October 1992 on Foodstuffs and Utility Articles (Foodstuffs Act) (SR 817.0).
- 38 Federal Act of 24. March 2006 on Radio and Television (SR 784.40).
- 39 Road Traffic Act of 19 December 1958 (SR 741.01).
- 40 Federal Act of 9 October 1992 on Foodstuffs and Utility Articles (Foodstuffs Act) (SR 817.0).
- 41 Federal Act of 24 March 2006 on Radio and Television (SR 784.40).
- 42 Federal Act of 13 March 1964 über die Arbeit in Industrie, Gewerbe und Handel (Employment Act) (SR 822.11).
- 43 Ordinance of 27 October 2004 über Tabakerzeugnisse und Raucherwaren mit Tabakersatzstoffen (Tabakverordnung) (SR 817.06).
- 44 Federal Act of 3 October 2008 on Protection against Passive Smoking (SR 818.31).
- 45 Federal Act of 3 October 1951 on Narcotics and Psychotropic Substances (Narcotics Act) (SR 812.121).
- 46 Federal Act of 18 December 1998 über Glücksspiele und Spielbanken (Spielbankengesetz) (SR 935.52).
- 47 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2009): Medikamente http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/DocUpload/MEDIKAMENTE.pdf; consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 48 UNODC, United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (2009): *World Drug Report*. http://www.unodc.org/documents/wdr/WDR_2009/WDR2009_eng_web.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 49 Roche, Ann und Kenn Pidd (2005): *Alcohol: Emerging patterns, problems and prevention*. Public Health Bulletin South Australia No. 2: 8-10.
- 50 See Gmel, Gerhard, Jürgen Rehm, Emmanuel Kuntsche, Matthias Wicki und Florian Labhart (2009): Das European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs (ESPAD) in der Schweiz. Wichtigste Ergebnisse im Vergleich 2003 und 2007.
 Lausanne: Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems and Falbesaner, Thomas and Andrea Czwink (2008): "Männliche Magersucht". Phoenix Medizinischer Schwerpunkt.
- 51 The percentage of smokers among casino guests is markedly higher than that among the rest of the population: according to casino operators, half of the visitors to Swiss casinos smoke. See Schweizer Casino-Verband (2009): Stellungnahme zum Entwurf der Verordnung on Schutz vor Passivrauchen. See also Künzi, Kilian, Tobias Fritschi and Theres Egger (2004): Glücksspiel und Spielsucht in der Schweiz. Empirische Untersuchung von Spielpraxis, Entwicklung, Sucht und Konsequenzen. Studie im Auftrag der Eidgenössischen Spielbankenkommission und des Bundesamtes für Justiz, http://www.ejpd.admin.ch/etc/medialib/data/ gesellschaft/lotterie.Par.0008.File.tmp/studie-spielsucht-d.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 52 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (ISPA): *Risikokonsum*. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/infos-und-fakten/alkohol/konsum/ risikokonsum/; consulted on 11.02.2010.

- 53 Gmel, Gerhard, Emmanuel Kuntsche, Matthias Wicki and Florian Labhart (2009): Das European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs (ESPAD) in der Schweiz. Wichtigste Ergebnisse im Vergleich 2003 und 2007. Lausanne: Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems.
- 54 Keller, Roger, Theda Radtke, Hans Krebs and Rainer Hornung (2009): *Der Tabakkonsum der Schweizer Wohnbevölkerung in den Jahren 2001 bis 2008. Zusammenfassung des Forschungsberichts 2009.* University Zurich: Psychology Institute, Social and Health Psychology Section.
- 55 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems: Tabakkonsum Jugendlicher. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/de/infos-und-fakten/tabak/ jugendliche/, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 56 FCDI, Federal Commission for Drug Issues (2008): *Cannabis 2008: Update zum Cannabisbericht 1999.* Bern: Federal Commission for Drug Issues.
- 57 FSO, Federal Statistical Office (2008): *Schweizerische Gesundheitsbefragung* 2007. Erste Ergebnisse. Neuchâtel: Federal Statistical Office.
- 58 Federal Statistical Office (2009): *Gebrauch von Tabak, Alkohol, Medikamenten und illegalen Drogen nach Geschlecht und Alter.* Schweizerische Gesundheitsbefragungen 1992–2007. Neuchâtel: Federal Statistical Office.
- 59 Bondolfi, Guido, Françoise Jermann, François Ferrero, Daniele Zullino and Christian Osiek (2008): *Prevalence of pathological gambling in Switzerland after the opening of casinos and the introduction of new preventive legislation*. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 177: 236-239.
- 60 Künzi, Kilian, Tobias Fritschi and Theres Egger (2004): *Glücksspiel und Spielsucht in der Schweiz. Empirische Untersuchung von Spielpraxis, Entwicklung, Sucht und Konsequenzen.* Bern: Büro BASS.
- 61 FSO, Federal Statistical Office (2008): Schweizerische Gesundheitsbefragung 2007. Erste Ergebnisse. Neuchâtel: Federal Statistical Office. See also Gmel, Gerhard, Jürgen Rehm, Emmanuel Kuntsche, Matthias Wicki and Florian Labhart (2009): Das European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs (ESPAD) in der Schweiz. Wichtigste Ergebnisse im Vergleich 2003 und 2007. Lausanne: Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems.
- 62 Senn, Charlotte (2007): *Auswertungsbericht Pillentesting Jugendberatung Streetwork Zurich, 2003–2005,* http://www.infoset.ch/de/dokumente/2007_07_auswertungsbericht%20pillentesting.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 63 NZZ Online of 13 July 2009: Harte Zeiten für Schweizer Casinos.
- 64 See. WHO, World Health Organisation (2006): Bewältigung der wichtigsten Krankheiten in der Region: Herausforderungen und Lösungen. http://www.euro.who.int/document/mediacentre/fs0306g.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 65 EMCDDA, European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (2007): *Annual report 2006: Selected Issue 1: European Drug Policies: extended beyond illicit drugs?* http://issues06.emcdda.europa.eu/en/page003-en.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.

Endnotes and references The Challenge of Addiction

- 66 This was most recently the case in 2008, when the federal popular initiative "for a sensible policy on hemp and effective youth protection" was the subject of a popular vote. It failed at the ballot box on 30 November 2008 in all the cantons, with a no-vote of 63 per cent.
- 67 GfS-Forschungsinstitut (1999): Spannungsfeld zwischen Wahrnehmung und Verhalten. Medikamentennutzung und Public Health am Beispiel einer Repräsentativstudie zum Thema "Medikamentennutzung in der Schweiz". http://www.gfs.ch/medinutz.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 68 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2009): Medikamente – Gebrauch.

http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/DocUpload/MEDIKAMENTE.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010. 69 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2009):

- Täglicher Gebrauch von Schmerz-, Schlaf und Beruhigungsmitteln während der 7 letzten Tage bei Männer und Frauen, nach Alter (2007): http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/ fileadmin/user_upload/Grafiken/Medikamente/D_MED_1.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 70 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2009): Medikamente – Gebrauch. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/DocUpload/MEDIKAMENTE.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 71 Satory, Gudrun und Karin Elsesser (2001): *Medikamentenabhängigkeit*. Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- 72 Mahler, Nadja (2001): *Medikamentenmissbrauch im Breitensport*. Therapeutische Umschau Vol. 58 No. 4: 226-231.
- 73 Suchtmittel.de (2009): Suchtmittel.de. http://www.suchtmittel.de/, consulted on 11.02.2010. See also Bastigkeit, Matthias (2009): "Auf Droge durch Arzneimittel". *Pharmazeutische Zeitung online*. http://www.pharmazeutische-zeitung.de/ index.php?id=557, consulted on 11.02.2010, and Onmeda (2009): *Methylphenidat*. http://medikamente.onmeda.de/Wirkstoffe/Methylphenidat/ wirkung-medikament-10.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 74 Among the many sources: FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2008): Faktenblatt «Alkohol und Gewalt». http://www.bag.admin.ch/themen/drogen/00039/04355/ index.html?lang=de&download=M3wBPgDB/8ull6Du36WenojQ1NTTjaXZnqWfVpz Lhmfhnapmmc7Zi6rZnqCkkIZ7gXl/bKbXrZ6lhuDZz8mMps2gpKfo, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 75 Schachter, Sidney (1977): *Nicotine regulation in heavy and light smokers*. Journal of Experimental Psychology Vol. 106 No. 1: 5-12.
- 76 GfS-Forschungsinstitut (1999): Spannungsfeld zwischen Wahrnehmung und Verhalten. Medikamentennutzung und Public Health am Beispiel einer Repräsentativstudie zum Thema, Medikamentennutzung in der Schweiz'. http://www.gfs.ch/ medinutz.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 77 Soyka, Michael (2009): *Neuro-Enhancement aus suchtmedizinischer Sicht*. Der Nervenarzt Vol. 80 No. 7: 837-839.
- 78 Galert, Thorstern, Christoph Bublitz, Isabella Heuser, Rinhard Merkel, Dimitris Repantis, Bettina Schäne-Seifert und Davinia Talbot (2009): *Das optimierte Gehirn*. Gehirn und Geist 11.



- 79 Mahler, Nadja (2001): *Medikamentenmissbrauch im Breitensport*. Therapeutische Umschau Vol. 58 No. 4: 226-231.
- 80 Maher, Brendan (2008): Poll results: Look who's doping: Nature Vol. 452: 674-675.
- 81 DAK, Deutsche Angestelltenkasse (2009): Gesundheitsreport 2009. Analyse der Arbeitsunfähigkeitsdaten. Schwerpunktthema Doping am Arbeitsplatz. http://www.dak.de/content/filesopen/Gesundheitsreport_2009.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 82 Montandon, Jean-Blaise and Laurent Médioni (2002): Entwicklung der Anzahl Verschreibungen für Ritalin (Methylphenidat) im Kanton Neuenburg zwischen 1996 und 2000. Bulletin of the Federal Office of Public Health 15/02: 284-289. http://www.bag.admin.ch/dokumentation/publikationen/01435/01800/ index.html?lang=de&download=M3wBPgDB/8ull6Du36WcnojN14in3qSbnpWWZ Wqemk6p1rJgsYfhyt3NhqbdqIV+baqwbKbXrZ6lhuDZz8mMps2go6fo, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 83 Grüsser, Sabine und Carolin Thalemann (2006): Verhaltenssucht. Diagnostik, Therapie, Forschung. Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 84 WHO, World Health Organisation (2008): International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems. 10th Revision. Version for 2007. http://www.who.int/classifications/apps/icd/icd10online/, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 85 Grüsser, Sabine and Carolin Thalemann (2006): Verhaltenssucht. Diagnostik, Therapie, Forschung. Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 86 Maag, Verena (2005): Von der Unwiderstehlichkeit des Kaufens. Vortrag anlässlich einer Fachtagung der Suchtprävention Aargau.
- 87 Grüsser, Sabine and Carolin Thalemann (2006): *Verhaltenssucht*. *Diagnostik, Therapie, Forschung*. Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 88 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2008): Süchtig nach Onlinespielen und Chats. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/de/fuer-medienschaffende/pressemeldungen/browse/3/article/suechtig-nach-onlinespielenund-chats/?tx_ttnews[backPid]=93&cHash=985b15ca101969dce5d8c3162e65fff a, consulted on 11.02.2010. See also Offene Tür Zurich and Humboldt University Berlin (2001): Studie zu konstruktivem versus problematischem Internetgebrauch. Phänomen Internet-Sucht. http://www.offenetuer-zh.ch/ Studie%20Internet-Sucht.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 89 Bondolfi, Guido, Françoise Jermann, François Ferrero, Daniele Zullino and Christian Osiek (2008): *Prevalence of pathological gambling in Switzerland after the opening of casinos and the introduction of new preventive legislation*. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica Vol. 177 No. 3: 236-239.
- 90 FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2009): *Tabakanbau in der Schweiz*. http://www.bag.admin.ch/themen/drogen/00041/00611/01742/ index.html?lang=de, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 91 FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2004): Étude comparative des coûts sociaux des principaux déterminants de morbidité et mortalité évitables en Suisse. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.

Endnotes and references The Challenge of Addiction

- 92 Künzi, Kilian, Tobias Fritschi, Thomas Oesch, Matthias Gehrig und Nora Julien (2009): Soziale Kosten des Glücksspiels in Casinos. Studie zur Erfassung der durch die Schweizer Casinos versursachten sozialen Kosten. Zusammenfassung. Bern: Büro BASS.
- 93 OECD, Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development (Ed.) (2000): Literacy in the Information Age. Final Report of the International Adult Literacy Survey. Paris: Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development.
- 94 Coalition for Evidence-Based Policy (2009): *LifeSkills Training*. http://toptierevidence.org/wordpress/?page_id=318, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 95 Landesbildungsserver Baden-Württemberg (2009): Förderung der Lebenskompetenz bei Kindern und Jugendlichen zur Sucht- und Gewaltprävention. Informationsdienst zur Suchtprävention No. 15.
- 96 UNICEF, United Nations Childrens Fund (2009): Life Skills based Education for Drug Use Prevention. Training Manual. http://www.unicef.org/lifeskills/files/ DrugUsePreventionTrainingManual.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010. See also Botwin LifeSkills Training (2009): Program Overview. http://www.lifeskillstraining.com/overview.php?t=overview, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 97 Suchtpräventionsstelle Zürcher Oberland (2009): *TiL Training in Lebenskompetenz*. http://suchtp.web5.bestsite.ch/f84000075.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 98 Swisher, John. (1979): Prevention Issues. In: Dupont, Robert, Avram Goldstein und John O'Donnell (Ed.): Handbook on Drug Abuse. Washington: U.S. Government Print.
- 99 McQueeny, Tim, Brain Schweinsburg, Alecia Schweinsburg, Joanna Jacobus, Sunita Bava, Lawrence Frank and Susan Tapert (2009): *Altered White Matter Integrity in Adolescent Binge Drinkers*. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research Vol. 22 No. 7: 1278-1285.
- 100 McQueeny, Tim, Brain Schweinsburg, Alecia Schweinsburg, Joanna Jacobus, Sunita Bava, Lawrence Frank and Susan Tapert (2009): Altered White Matter Integrity in Adolescent Binge Drinkers. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research Vol. 22 No. 7: 1278-1285.
- 101 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2010): Alkohol. Konsumhäufigkeit. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/infos-und-fakten/alkohol/ konsum/konsumhaeufigkeit, consulted on 11.02.2010. See also ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2009): Medikamente – Gebrauch. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/DocUpload/MEDIKAMENTE. pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 102 Various authors (2009): Sucht im Alter. Suchtmagazin 3/2009. See also FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2008): Alter. Spectra No. 66. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.
- 103 Höpflinger, François (2008): Wandel des Alters und Trends zu Gesundheits- und Suchtverhalten. Presentation to the specialist event "Sucht im Alter" vom 11.11.2008. http://www.suchtimalter.ch/files/Referat_Hoepflinger.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.

Endnotes and references

- 104 Cantonal Council (Regierungsrat) Canton Basel-Landschaft (2009): Vorlage an den Landrat betreffend Gesetz über die Massnahmen zur Einschränkung der Bewegungsfreiheit. http://www.baselland.ch/fileadmin/baselland/files/docs/ polit-rechte/vernehml/vern2009/bewegung/bewegungseinschraenkung_lrv.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 105 Keller, Roger, Theda Radtke, Hans Krebs and Rainer Hornung (2009): Der Tabakkonsum der Schweizer Wohnbevölkerung in den Jahren 2001 bis 2008. Zusammenfassung des Forschungsberichts 2009. University of Zurich: Psychology Institute, Social and Health Psychology Section.
- 106 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2009): *Alkohol. Konsummuster nach Alter.* http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/fileadmin/ user_upload/Grafiken/Alkohol/D_A_conso_13.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 107 ISPA, Swiss Institute for the Prevention of Alcohol and Drug Problems (2009): Medikamente – Gebrauch. http://www.sfa-ispa.ch/fileadmin/user_upload/ Grafiken/Medikamente/D_MED_1.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 108 Maag, Verena (2005): Von der Unwiderstehlichkeit des Kaufens. Vortrag anlässlich einer Fachtagung der Suchtprävention Aargau.
- 109 Richter, Matthias und Klaus Hurrelmann (Eds.) (2006): Gesundheitliche Ungleichheit. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften. See also Klein, Michael (2008): Immer grössere Nachfrage – ein Gespräch mit dem Suchtforscher Prof. Michael Klein. http://www.caritas-nrw.de/cgi-bin/showcontent. asp?ThemaID=1018, consulted on 11.02.2010, and FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2006): Gender-Gesundheitsbericht Schweiz 2006. Grundlagen zur Entwicklung von forschungs- und handlungsbezogenen Aktivitäten. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.
- 110 Henkel, Dieter (2009): Sucht und soziale Ungleichheit. Schwerpunkt: Kinder und Jugendliche. Presentation to the Conference on 10.06.2009 in Stuttgart: Institute for Addiction Research, University of Applied Sciences Frankfurt a.M. http://www.suchtfragen.de/uploads/media/Henkel.Plenum_100609_01.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 111 Meyer, Katharina (Ed.) (2008): *Gesundheit in der Schweiz. Nationaler Gesundheitsbericht 2008.* Bern: Verlag Hans Huber.
- 112 Ogier, Joseph and Mustafa Ideli(2005): *Bericht über Suchtverhalten und -prävention bei Migrantinnen und Migranten im Kanton Zurich*. http://www.fisp-zh.ch/ inhalt/aktuell/Suchtverhalten%20MigrantInnen.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 113 EMCDDA, European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (2006): Gender differences in drug consumption and drug-related problems. http://issues06.emcdda.europa.eu/en/page014-en.html, consulted on 11.02.2010. See also FOPH, Federal Office of Public Health (2006): Gender-Gesundheitsbericht Schweiz 2006. Grundlagen zur Entwicklung von forschungs- und handlungsbezogenen Aktivitäten. Bern: Federal Office of Public Health.
- 114 Vogt, Irmgard (2009): *Paare mit Suchtproblemen*. In: Lenz, Karl und Frank Nestmann (Ed.): *Handbuch Persönliche Beziehungen*. Weinheim : Juventa Verlag.

-1/

Endnotes and references The Challenge of Addiction

- 115 Weilandt, Caren, Alexander Rommel, Josef Eckert und Caren Wiegand (2004): Medikamenten-, Alkohol- und Drogenkonsum der schweizerischen Migrationsbevölkerung – Ausgewählte Ergebnisse des GMM 2004. Bonn: Wissenschaftliches Institut der Ärzte Deutschlands (WIAD) gem. e.V.
- 116 FSO, Federal Statistical Office (2009): *Gesundheitsstatistik*. *Ausgabe 2009*. Neuchâtel: Federal Statistical Office. http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/ index/themen/14/22/publ.Document.118126.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 117 FSO, Federal Statistical Office (2009): *Gesundheitszustand. Schweizerische Gesundheitsbefragung (SGB) 2007.* http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/ index/themen/14/02/01/key/01.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 118 FSO, Federal Statistical Office (2009): *Prävalenz einer dauerhaften Krankheit oder eines dauerhaften gesundheitlichen Problems*. Schweizerische Gesundheitsbefragung (SGB) 2007. http://www.bfs.admin.ch/bfs/portal/de/index/ themen/14/02/01/key/01.Document.118183.xls, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 119 Personal presentation based on: Strategy Unit Alcohol Harm Reduction project (2003): *Interim Analytical Report*. http://www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/ cabinetoffice/strategy/assets/su%20interim_report2.pdf, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 120 See EMCDDA, European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (2010): http://www.emcdda.europa.eu/html.cfm/index6790EN.html, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 121 Infodrog (2010): *Risiko- und Schutzfaktoren*. http://www.infodrog.ch/pages/ de/prev/lexi/lexi_prev_30.htm, consulted on 11.02.2010.
- 122 Kickbusch, Ilona (2006): *Gesundheitskompetenz*. News Public Health Schweiz No. 3.
- 123 Muscat, Richard and members of the Pompidou research platform (2008): From a policy on illegal drugs to a policy on psychoactive substances. Strasbourg: Council of Europe Publishing.

Imprint

© Steering Group Challenge of Addiction, Bern 2010

Published by

Steering Group of the three Federal Commissions for Alcohol Issues, for Drug Issues and for Tobacco Control

Project Office

mcw assistenz]&[koordination, Miriam Wetter Molli-Park 2a, CH-4800 Zofingen

This document or extracts therefrom may only be reproduced with the consent of the Steering Group.

For further information and to order additional copies, see:

www.challengeaddiction.ch www.herausforderungsucht.ch www.defiaddictions.ch www.sfidadipendenze.ch

Text Editor André Tschudin, Basel

Translation Kenneth MacKenzie, Bern

Lectorship Anja Dräger, Zurich

Concept und layout www.atelierrichner.ch

Photographs Carmela Odoni, Bern

Printed by Stämpfli Publications Ltd., Bern

Printed on offset paper with a matt, bright white, smooth, wood-free finish, FSC-certified, CO₂-neutral

This publication is also issued in the original German and a French version. It may also be downloaded as a pdf file on: www.challengeaddiction.ch, www.herausforderungsucht.ch, www.defiaddictions.ch, www.sfidadipendenze.ch

1st Edition May 2010, 2000 copies (DE 1000, FR 500, EN 500)